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OUR

OUR

Our mandate is to facilitate access to financing for
loan-based housing in First Nations communities. We
help create the capacity for First Nations communities
to support and sustain loan-based housing programs,
thereby contributing to the social welfare and civic
improvements of these communities and their residents.
Our overarching goal is to promote a system in
which First Nations residents have the same housing
opportunities on communally held lands – be they
reserve, settlement, or lands set aside – as mainstream
Canadians have within other communities.

LOVE –
We are committed to addressing the needs and
interests of First Nations individuals, families,
communities, and Nations in safe and sustainable
ways.

Mandate

OUR

Vision
As we focus on increasing the opportunities for onreserve loan-based homeownership, our vision is that:
Every First Nation family has the opportunity to have a
home on their own land in a strong community.

Values

HUMILITY –
We remain open to new ideas that help us better
fulfill our mission and responsibilities.
RESPECT –
We work at the pace of each First Nation, respond to
their diversity, and care for the communal nature of
the land.
COURAGE –
We are willing to do our part to decolonize, engage
in reconciliation, promote the changes necessary to
increase loan-based homeownership, and celebrate
success.
HONESTY –
We are clear about our focus on loan-based
housing, our ability to support other housing needs
of Indigenous Peoples, and our willingness to be
accountable.
WISDOM –
We know when to listen, learn, advocate,
collaborate, and innovate.
TRUTH –
We acknowledge that broad solutions are needed for
the housing realities that Indigenous Peoples face on
a daily basis and that loan-based housing is only one
part of the solution.
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MESSAGE FROM THE

Chairperson of
the Trustees
2021 saw us make great progress in renewing the First
Nations Market Housing Fund. I would like to recognize
our Trustees for their work in leading this progress. At
the end of December, our founding Board Chair, John
Beaucage, retired from the Board of Trustees. John has
long been a part of the Fund’s success and we will miss
his invaluable insights. Thank you, John, for everything
you have done for us, and to the rest of our Trustees for
the broad wealth of experience you bring to our work.
One significant milestone led by our Trustees this year
was in the amendment and restatement of the Fund’s
Indenture of Trust and Funding Agreement, and the
cessation of the Management Agreement with CMHC.
Our pursuit to make the Fund more autonomous and
responsive to First Nations does not end here. The
Trustees are leading the development of a strategy
to work with the federal government in pursuing
transformational reforms, in order to further revitalize and
strengthen the Fund. This revitalization is motivated by
important legal and social justice rationales, including First
Nations’ rights to self-determination, the implementation
of the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of
Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP), and the ongoing pursuit
of reconciliation, as we push systems and thinking to
be decolonized. These principles are shared by our First
Nations partners, and remain a priority for our Board of
Trustees, as they work to ensure Indigenous values and
voices are a key consideration of our work.

many unmarked graves at former Indigenous residential
schools, showing Canadians and the world the true face
of the injustice. How fitting it is that this year we marked
the first-ever National Day for Truth and Reconciliation on
September 30th.
As institutions and governance models struggle to keep
up with the challenges that the pandemic has brought
us, as well as the fires and floods that impacted many
First Nations communities, the Fund continues to be a
steady driving force in helping First Nations communities
bridge gaps and better serve the needs of their citizens.
The successes we’ve faced this year in supporting First
Nations market housing systems are a critical part of not
just our economic recovery, but also that of First Nations
peoples, creating and sustaining a culture that sees
homeownership as a path to economic opportunity.
Looking forward to 2022 and our post-pandemic future,
we must continue to understand the importance of
building trust and confidence through compassion,
generosity, collaboration, and consensus building. Taking
to heart the lessons of our elders in building stronger
ties with communities and embracing change, we are
empowering communities to create the conditions for a
housing market that can empower real self-governance
and self-determination. That is how we can truly move
reconciliation forward. I hope you enjoy the report.
Respectfully,

It is no understatement to say that 2021 has been
another difficult year for all of us. The fight against
COVID-19 continues to be a reminder of the deeprooted economic, societal, and racial inequalities
disproportionately affecting First Nations. And even more
so in the public re-awakening in the rediscovery of so

C H I E F LY D I A H W I T S U M , J D

F N M HF FN M
2 0H 2F 12 0|2 1Annual
Report
| Annual Report

55

TRUSTEE MESSAGES

MESSAGE FROM THE

MESSAGE FROM THE

Executive
Director

The pandemic’s second year provided a path of
resilience and reflection, reaffirming commitments and
setting a clear path for the future. In April of 2021, the
Trustees held their strategic planning session to finalize
the Fund’s Transfer & Transformation Strategy and set a
roadmap to enact reforms to revitalize and strengthen
the Fund. We laid the groundwork, and the Fund
launched a series of virtual engagement sessions in late
2021, beginning with First Nations community leaders.
In 2022 we will canvass technicians, youth, elders,
First Nations organizations, a cross-section of current
homeowners and those aspiring to be homeowners, as
well as our lending partners. All of this rich input will
be supported by surveys, research, and analysis, as well
as validation. To truly reform the Fund in the manner
championed by the Trustees, we need to hear from
the people most affected and pursue development in a
collaborative way of new and enhanced products and
services we can offer to meet the diverse needs.
Throughout 2021, we continued to focus our efforts
from afar as everyone worked remotely. Together with
our partners, new and creative ways were found to
move projects forward. As we learn to live with the
pandemic, we will focus on keeping safe and applying
what we learned that seems to work. We will still travel
when it makes sense, but we will try to reduce our
carbon footprint and travel less for functions where we
do not need to be in person. As lovely as it is to gather,
we learned that we do not always have to do that to
get a job done. We will be asking that our capacity
development providers follow suit where the work can
be done effectively from afar. We all have a role to play
in protecting our environment.
More than $2 million in Fund commitments supporting
capacity development projects that stalled in the first

Director, Finance
& Administration
pandemic year were honored in 2021, while another
$2 million in initiatives got underway. This reflects the
Fund’s commitment to work with each First Nation at
their own pace. Despite facing challenges in a host
of ways, our First Nations partners continued moving
forward on their journey to become stronger and offer
housing solutions their citizens desire.
In the pages that follow we have tried to highlight just
some of the many accomplishments in the communities
we serve that show what is possible through a lot of
hard work, patience, and perseverance. Whether it was
completing a long sought-after professional designation
or building, buying, or renovating a new home, it took
hours and hours, and sometimes years to achieve. The
joy comes across.
As we look to 2022, I am grateful for the sage advice
and strength of the Trustees, as well as the commitment
and expertise of the staff. We hope for the continued
good health of our Trustees and staff who are all so
passionate about our work, as well as our hundreds
of committed community partners. Together we will
remain focused on building and supporting vibrant
communities while developing new tools that will be
even more impactful.
With respect,
D E B O R A H TAY L O R

Since the start of the COVID-19 pandemic in the first
quarter of 2020, staff have been working remotely. The
pandemic has accelerated the Fund’s ability to operate
in a virtual environment. We continue to invest in
information technology tools and our staff to capitalize
on the profound changes taking place. The Fund has
purchased audio visual equipment and capacity to
hold more secure, high quality, online meetings, and
engagement sessions into the future.
We continue to focus on the Fund’s IT security. As we
have seen with high profile data leaks and institutional
hacks, we must remain vigilant and do everything we
can to ensure the integrity of our data. The Fund must
set the highest standards for itself to earn and maintain
our partners’ trust. Our committed and professional
staff carefully maintain operations systems and internal
controls to ensure our financial information is reliable,
our assets are safeguarded, transactions are properly
authorized, and that resources and operations are
managed efficiently and economically. In 2021, the
Fund implemented all the recommendations from the
2019 IT Security Assessment; a new assessment in 2022
is underway.

we are taking steps to make the Fund more accessible
and appealing to Indigenous employees.
In 2021, information sessions were held between the
Financial Management Board (FMB), the First Nations
Financial Authority, and Fund staff to learn more
about each other’s organization and identify more
opportunities to collaborate. The Fund staff have been
working closely with FMB staff on Nation building
initiatives when both organizations partner with the
same First Nation.
The Fund had a very successful 2021 adapting to better
serve our mandate and deliver on the transformation
led by the Trustees. There is much work remaining to
be done. However, steady progress is being made every
day.

T R AV I S S E Y M O U R ,
F C PA , F C G A , M B A , C A F M

Throughout 2021, we continued working towards
meeting COSO standards for internal controls, enabling
the development of stronger internal control systems
that adapt to changing business and operating
environments, mitigate risks, and support sound
decision making and governance of the organization.
We have also focussed on supporting the staff’s
professional development, to reinforce how we value
them and empower them to take on more complex and
challenging tasks. As an Indigenous-led organization,
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FO R WA RD- L OOK ING

Statements

The Annual Report of the First Nations Market
Housing Fund (“the Fund”) contains forwardlooking statements regarding objectives, strategies,
and expected financial results. There are risks and
uncertainties beyond the control of the Fund that
include, but are not limited to, economic, financial,
and regulatory conditions. These factors, among
others, may cause actual results to differ substantially
from the expectations stated or implied in the
forward-looking statements.

2021

Highlights
First Nations Market Housing Fund
The Fund is the first national fund created to support
financing arrangements for First Nations housing on
reserve and settlement lands – it supports loan-based
housing on reserve by providing easier access to
homeownership, rental, and renovation loans.

$1 Billion
in potential credit
approved to support
an estimated

@2022. All rights reserved. No portion of the Annual Report may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or
by any means, mechanical, electronic, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without the prior written permission of the First Nations Market
Housing Fund. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, no portion of this Annual Report may be translated without the prior written
permission of the First Nations Market Housing Fund.

The three pillars are intertwined; success in one area supports
growth in the others. Strong capacity development initiatives
in the areas of finance and governance, for instance, support
overall community development while fostering a positive
environment for the implementation and sustainability of a
strong loan-based housing system.

Financial
Management

7,000

Community
Commitment

$26.4
Million

Housing
Loans

spent on Nation building in
First Nations communities

Over 41%

Partners

There are three pillars within the Fund’s Capacity
Development Program: Financial Management; Good
Governance; and Community Commitment (and evidence of
demand for loan-based housing).

Good
Governance

Over

263

Capacity Development Pillars

of First
Nations
across Canada

156 First Nations
have used capacity development

IN
I N V O LV I N G

1,544

4,510

initiatives

501

Fund-backed homes

people

221

First Nations partners
approved for CE and/or CD
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A YEAR IN REVIEW

2021 –

A Year
in Review

The Fund celebrated several milestone achievements in
2021, including leveraging over $1 billion in approved
potential credit to support an estimated 7,000 loans
for housing units on reserve and settlement lands.
It is exciting to see progress continues to be made
in building the foundational blocks for market/loanbased housing in First Nations communities. This
milestone advances towards the Fund’s full potential of
leveraging $3 billion in additional on-reserve housing
investments.
The Fund remains committed to working with each
First Nations partner at their own pace to introduce,
prepare for, and implement each phase of a marketor loan-based homeownership program. In 2021,
five additional First Nations welcomed their first
Fund-backed loans, providing new homeownership
opportunities to their citizens.
During the year, the Trustees pursued and
accomplished short-term operational changes to
the Fund’s constating agreements, including formal
termination of the long-defunct Management
Agreement with CMHC. Our pursuit to make the
Fund more autonomous and responsive to First
Nations does not end here. The Trustees are leading
the development of a strategy to work with the
federal government in pursuing transformational
reforms to revitalize and strengthen the Fund. This
revitalization is motivated by important legal and
social justice rationales, including First Nations’
rights to self-determination, the implementation
of the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of
Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP), and the ongoing pursuit
of reconciliation requiring systems and thinking to be
decolonized.
To examine potential longer-term reforms, the Fund
launched the first of a series of virtual engagement
sessions for a wide range of stakeholders, which will
continue in 2022. Engagement is envisioned as a
two-step process where ideas and concepts for getting
more loan-based homes on the ground comes from
the input of participants. Input to shape longer-term
reforms will be further supplemented by surveys,
research, and analysis to be followed by a second
round of engagements to validate the ideas/concepts
heard in the first round of engagement sessions.

This is an exciting time for the Trustees as the input and
support from the engagement sessions will shape the Fund’s
proposition for how longer-term reforms reimages the:

•

Purpose, Mandate, and decision-making authority of the Fund;

•

Relationships between the current Fund governance and
operational structures and processes and increased accountability
to First Nations;

•

Investment latitude comparable to other financial institutions;

•

Lands, entities, and individuals eligible to participate in the Fund’s
offerings and facilities;

•

Mindset of those who could participate in loan-based housing
given the opportunity and the right circumstances;

•

Additional offerings/facilities necessary to fulfill market/loanbased housing demand and improve the housing market within
First Nations;

•

Relationships and transitions between market-loan-based
housing and other forms of housing within First Nations;

•

Collaboration with Indigenous and non-Indigenous governments
and financial institutions; and

•

Timing and process for reconstituting Beneficiaries of the Trust
from the government to First Nations.

F N M H F 2021
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EXTERNAL ENVIRON

EXTERNAL

Environment

The vaccination of Canadian citizens remained a top
priority throughout 2021 to try to stem the spread of
COVID-19 and its variants. Even as the pandemic reached
the two-year mark, gaps in societal inequalities continued
to be highlighted. In particular, the lack of adequate
housing and access to clean water in many First Nations
communities. Lacking resources to deal with COVID-19
outbreaks, many First Nations have restricted travel in
and out of their community. When outbreaks did occur,
Band offices were closed as staff were redirected or
worked from home. This situation also impacted the
ability of many First Nations businesses to remain open
for extended periods of time.
The tragic revelation of the locations of unmarked graves
of children attending former residential schools shocked
the world and retraumatized survivors and their families.
The intergenerational impact of this painful history will
take understanding, patience and kindness, and a long
time to heal. As the first National Day for Truth and
Reconciliation was held in Canada on September 30,
2021, it marked a day for all Canadians to reflect on the
painful and lasting impacts of residential schools.
Forest fires in early 2021 followed by unprecedented
flooding in B.C., impacted many First Nations citizens,
businesses, and their communities. Many were forced to
evacuate their homes and relocate away for long periods
of time. Some remain displaced, unable to return to their
homes, places of work and businesses.
All these events continue to disrupt First Nations’
government, businesses, and families, as leadership,
staff, and citizens’ focus have been elsewhere. In turn,
these events influence how the Fund engages and
communicates with First Nations partners and others. In
2020, Fund staff had pivoted to working remotely and
this continued throughout 2021. Many of the touchpoint
opportunities with clients that once were handled inperson were conducted virtually as staff did not travel in
2021. Travel reductions also extended to the provision
of capacity development in First Nations communities
wherein certain initiatives were able to be effectively
delivered virtually. Conferences, trade shows, and First
Nations events were postponed, cancelled, or on rare
occasion held virtually. These types of events, previously
held in-person, are important to the Fund in terms of
meeting up with current clients, engaging interest in the

Fund’s program offerings, sharing insights on the work
the Fund is doing events were postponed, cancelled,
or on rare occasion held virtually. These types of
events, previously held in-person, are important to
the Fund in terms of meeting up with current clients,
engaging interest in the Fund’s program offerings,
sharing insights on the work the Fund is doing in many
communities, and showcasing First Nations’ successes.
Staffing changes and/or vacancies in key positions in
First Nations also impacted progress with the Fund.
In a number of instances, partnering First Nations
reached out to the Fund to assist in providing support
on their housing file while efforts were made to fill
staffing vacancies. Although these challenges have and
continue to take a huge toll in many First Nations, there
remains a passion and determination to move forward,
including developing and implementing a sustainable
system for loan-based housing.
Budget 2021: A Recovery Plan for Jobs, Growth, and
Resilience, was introduced by the Government of
Canada in April 2021. The Plan proposed significant
investments for First Nations to advance initiatives.
Several of the priority areas are highlighted below:

$1.4 Billion
to see Indigenous communities and
businesses through the COVID-19
pandemic, including distinctions-based
funding under the Indigenous Community
Support Fund and the Indigenous
Community Business Fund, funding to
maintain the public health response in First
Nations communities, and support for the
First Nations Finance Authority.

$2.7 Billion
over 10 years to escalate the 10-year
grants to address key cost drivers such
as changes in inflation and population
in First Nations communities.

$1.7 Billion
over five years to cover operations and
maintenance costs of on reserve community
infrastructure in First Nations communities.
First Nations will also have access to the $4.3
billion distinctions-based Indigenous Community
Infrastructure Fund to support immediate
demands, as prioritized by Indigenous partners,
with shovel-ready projects in their communities.

$1.4 Billion
to see Indigenous communities and
businesses through the COVID-19
pandemic, including distinctions-based funding
under the Indigenous Community Support Fund
and the Indigenous Community Business Fund,
funding to maintain the public health response
in First Nations communities, and support for
the First Nations Finance Authority.

$64 Million
to help Indigenous entrepreneurs, including
Indigenous women, access capital and business
supports to start and grow their businesses.

$31 Million
over two years to support the co-development
of an Action Plan with Indigenous partners
to implement legislation on the United Nations
Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples.

MORE THAN

$373 Million
over five years to support First Nations
governance, support Additions to Reserve, and
further a First Nations Data Governance Strategy.

F N M H F 2021
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Budget 2021 highlighted that First Nations will
also benefit from:
ACCESS TO

$36 Million
over three years in investments to help
build capacity and create jobs in Indigenous
communities through clean energy projects.

$163 Million
over three years to support fold security
in isolated norther communities.

ACCESS TO

$138 Million
for Indigenous recipients through a $1.4
billion top-up to Infrastructure Canada’s
Disaster Mitigation and Adaptation Fund
to help Indigenous communities adapt to
climate change.

Extending
the Indigenous Business Initiative to June
30, 2021 to support Indigenous businesses
during the COVID-19 pandemic by providing
interest-free loans and non-repayable
contributions for First Nations, Inuit, and
Métis Nation businesses.

$87 Million
over five years to modernize federal
procurement and create opportunities
or specific communities by diversifying the
federal supplier base.

The federal election held in September 2021, resulted in a
re-elected minority Liberal government, who subsequently
provided an Economic and Fiscal Update on December 14,
2021. The Update reiterated the government’s plan to finish
the fight against COVID-19, support Canadians and Canadian
businesses, and ensure a strong recovery for everyone.
Mandate letters to all Ministers were issued on December
16, 2021. Minister Hussen was appointed as the Minister of
Housing and Diversity and Inclusion, and Minister responsible
for CMHC, the position to which the Chair reports. This was
welcome news given the support the Minister has shown to
Trustees in developing a strategy to work with the Federal
government to achieve reforms to revitalize and strengthen
the Fund. As per the Mandate letter, Minister Hussen’s
responsibility is to help ensure Canadians can get a home of
their own, through work to improve housing affordability and
end chronic homelessness. To help address critical gaps, the
Minister will engage with Indigenous partners to begin the
co-development of an Urban, Rural and Northern Indigenous
Housing Strategy. Together with the Minister of CrownIndigenous Relations, Minister of Northern Affairs, Minister of
Indigenous Services and Minister of Intergovernmental Affairs,
Infrastructure and Communities, and in partnership with First
Nations, Inuit, and Métis communities, Minister Hussen will
continue to make immediate and long-terms investments
to support ongoing work to close the infrastructure gap by
2030. This has a particular focus on expediating investments
in Indigenous housing, with over half of the funding available
by the upcoming summer construction period. Minister
Hussen has also been charged with working with Indigenous
partners, to co-develop an Urban, Rural and Northern
Housing Strategy, a stand-alone companion to the National
Housing Strategy, supported by dedicated investments, and
to create Canada’s first-ever National Indigenous Housing
Centre.
The Fund’s programs and services align with the
Government’s priorities and the Trustees look forward to
continuing to work with Minister Hussen and with CMHC as
Funder, as the Fund pursues agreement of the Government
of Canada for implementing the enhanced independence
of the Fund. Longer-term revisions to the Fund’s constating
agreements being pursued through a modernized framework,
once approved and implemented, will enable the Fund to
operate as an autonomous and independent agency under
First Nations governance, accountable to First Nations and to
the Government of Canada.
F N M H F 2021
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THE

Fund in Action
The Trustees held their strategic planning session in April
2021. The sessions were held virtually over several days,
facilitated by Harold Tarbell (Akwesasne Mohawk), Tarbell
Facilitation Network. The Trustees finalized the Fund’s
Transfer & Transformation Strategy addressing broader
longer-term reforms.
The Strategy, led by the Trustees, is intended to drive
change. The Trustees established a Reform Mission which
includes undertaking the research, policy development,
relationship building, and operational growth initiatives
necessary to develop consensus and collaboration on the
Fund’s proposed path to reform. Modernization of the
Fund’s framework involves hearing directly from others
including Indigenous community leaders, technicians,
homeownership champions, youth, elders, First Nations
organizations, current homeowners and those aspiring to
be homeowners, and our lending partners. The Trustees
are focussed on identifying barriers to achieving more
homes on the ground and how the Fund may significantly
contribute to addressing these barriers as it pursues
reimaging how the Fund can further support First Nations
and their citizens to embrace and sustain homeownership
opportunities in their communities.

&

Transfer

Transformation

Reform Vision

The First Nations Market Housing Fund has
increased abilities to:
• continue as a perpetual trust fund
• strengthen governance accountability to First
Nations, and
• expand loan based housing on First Nations
reserves and settlement lands as part of the
First Nations’ housing continuum.

Measures
•
•
•

•
•

Scope of Fund’s decision making authority
First Nation participation in governance
accountability
Degree of support for the Fund’s reform
pathway (government, financial institutions,
First Nations)
FNMHF capacity - knowledge, skill set, data
baselines, etc.
Commitment to loan based home ownership

Reform Mission
The Trustees’ reform vision is that the
Fund has abilities to:

•
•
•

Continue as a perpetual trust fund;
Strengthen governance
accountability to First Nations; and
Expand loan-based housing on
First Nations reserve and settlement
lands as part of the First Nations
housing continuum.

To undertake the research, policy development,
relationship building, and operational growth
initiatives necessary to develop consensus and
collaboration on the FNMHF’s proposed path to
reform.

Initiatives
•

•
Engagement sessions were launched in December 2021
with leadership during the AFN SCA and will continue in
2022. It is estimated the Strategy may take 1-2 years to
fully examine and to work with the Government of Canada
to effect change.

•

Develop Complementary Strategies Ministerial / CMHC, Communications and
Marketing, etc. 
Conduct priority research to confirm
relationship between reform and:
1) Expanding Fund Offerings
2) Improving Current Offerings
Conduct a Stakeholder Analysis to identify
shared interests
F N M H F 2021
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THE FUND’S GROWI

THE FUND’S

Growing
Footprint

The reserve is located in the Southeast region of B.C.
(Grasmere, B.C.) which is 1 hour south of Cranbrook
and 10 minutes from the Canada/US Roosville Border
Crossing.
Tobacco Plains Indian Band referenced
throughout this document by their
traditional name Yaq̓it ʔa·knuqⱡi ‘it A Community’s Commitment to Strengthening
Capacity that Results in Expanded Housing
Options to Members

When First Nations first apply to the Fund, they
are applying for participation in the Fund’s Credit
Enhancement Facility. The program provides a financial
backstop to a First Nation’s housing loan guarantees
made to lenders such as banks and credit unions.
Many First Nations are not immediately eligible to
participate in the program as they do not meet the
minimum requirements to safely guarantee housing
loans on communally held land. In these instances,
the Fund will work with the community to provide
Nation building supports and funding to address
those areas that require strengthening through its
Capacity Development Program. The intent is that the
First Nation will be reassessed and qualify for Credit
Enhancement in the future. The timing is very much
dependent on other priorities and commitments of the
Nation. The Fund prides itself in working at the pace
of each First Nation to move forward in building and
implementing a sustainable market – or loan-based
housing program.

The journey of Yaq̓ it ʔa·knuqⱡi ‘it in moving from
Capacity Development ‘only ‘ to Credit Enhancement
has been one that has demonstrated a clear community
commitment to strengthening at all levels including
finance, governance, housing, lands, and community
commitment. The story of Yaq̓ it ʔa·knuqⱡi ‘it is an
exciting one and a story to be shared.
Yaq̓it ʔa·knuqⱡi‘ it is part of the Ktunaxa Nation which
is made up of four British Columbia bands and two
United States bands.

Yaq̓it ʔa·knuqⱡi ‘it is made up of one reserve comprising
10,680 acres with four lakes located within its
boundaries. Five per cent (5%) of the total land base
is held by locates, Certificates of Possession (CP’s)
and several lots are leased. Of the approximate 152
members, 50% live on reserve.
The governance structure includes a 5-member Council.
Custom elections are held every two years with
staggered terms of office of 4 years each. The Council
meet bi-weekly with meetings open to membership.
First Nation businesses operate under the management
of the Tobacco Plains Development Corporation. A
Chief Administrative Officer manages the day-to-day
operations. The Administration has 21 employees along
with seasonal employment. Community members also
work in the nearby communities of Cranbrook, Fernie,
and Elko.
In the seven (7) years since first partnering with the Fund,
Yaq̓it ʔa·knuqⱡi ‘it has been determined to improve and
strengthen their capacity at all levels of governance and
has achieved many of their goals. Many of the initiatives
were undertaken with or without the Fund’s support.
One consistent thread has been the commitment to
engage and harness the wisdom and insight of their
membership throughout this process.
Among the initiatives that Yaq̓it ʔa·knuqⱡi ‘it undertook
on their own or in other partnerships, was the
construction of a new multi-million dollar administration
and community gathering place, completion of a new
water reservoir, subdivision site servicing, a Finance
Administration Law, Financial Management Board
Certification, Human Resource Policy, incorporation of a
new economic development company, Custom Election
Code, a Comprehensive Community Plan, and a Housing
Condition Assessment.

their membership and ensuring the full endorsement
of the Council. Maintaining consistent rent collection,
management, and accuracy of arrears has always been a
priority. This program has demonstrated the community’s
commitment to pay for and manage their housing.
Now having been approved to participate under
the Fund’s Credit Enhancement Facility, Yaq̓it
ʔa·knuqⱡi‘it intends to offer a loan program to its
members that will support, over the next 5 years, the
new construction of 18 housing units, including 10
homeownership and 8 rental units, and 10 renovation
loans for either market rentals or private homeowners.

“Housing for membership has
always been a top priority for the
?akanuxunik’? (the people) of Yaq̓it
ʔa·knuqⱡi’ it (Tobacco Plains Indian
Band). During this process we listened
to membership’s concerns, we identified
and removed some of the barriers
that kept them from homeownership.
Partnering and being approved by this
Fund provides us with some tools that
will help us assist members in acquiring
homes, and hopefully encourage more
members to move back to their lands.”
– N A S U K I N H E I D I G R AV E L L E

A notable initiative undertaken with the Fund’s support
has been the strides made by Yaq̓it ʔa·knuqⱡi ‘it in
its implementation of a rental program in 2013. The
program addressed historical arrears in consultation with
F N M H F 2021
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THE JOURNEY TIME
THE

Journey
Timeline

2020-2022

Land Use Planning (LUP)

A timeline of Yaq̓it ʔa·knuqⱡi ‘it seven (7)
year journey working with the Fund is
depicted below:

Housing Policy
updated and approval
by Council
Governance
Manual developed
The Manual addressed the act of
governing (style, accountability, decisionmaking, Council powers, roles and
responsibilities, remuneration, code of
conduct, conflict of interest), planning,
management, and general functioning
(meeting, portfolio, disqualification,
removal and replacement, vacancies,
orientation) and delegated authority.

2013

Applied to
the Fund

2 013

Governance &
Operational
Capacity
Development
Supports

2015-2016
2015

2014

Tobacco Plains
is 117th First
Nation to work
with the Fund
The Fund offers Tobacco
Plains to revisit extended
Credit Enhancement in the
future with offer to support
areas identified for capacity
development.

The current LUP process will provide strategies for
sustainability, future development including resource use,
traditional site management and protection. A final Plan will
include key strategies and indicators that have been vetted
by the community through formal community member
review and approved by Council. This will be supported by an
Implementation plan for evaluating the LUP over time.

2018-19

Financial
Administrative
Law (FAL) Compliant
Finance Policies
FAL compliant policies were
developed along with a phased
approach for implementation.
New and updated policies were
undertaken following the FAL
enactment in 2018.

Over a 2-year period, a number of
guides were developed to support
governance and operational
needs which resulted in a number
of policy guides and tools to
be implemented, including a
Council orientation presentation,
an employee planning guide, a
capacity assessment/development
plan, a succession planning
guide, and a Council approved
compensation grid.

Support for
Housing Staff
Virtual one-on-one training support
has been provided to the Housing
Assistant through the delivery of four
(4) training modules delivered over a
3-month timeframe. Topics included
an introduction to housing on-reserve
programs, a review of key parts of the
Housing Policy and examples on how
to implement and enforce the Policy,
general information on financial and
maintenance planning and information
on strategies in charging and collection
of rent, including tenant counselling.

Communications
Guide

Ratification of New
Membership Code
Implementation and
Training Support

2017-20

Annual
Amendments
to HR Policy

The process of updating the
Membership Code began in 2014.
The Code was ratified by its
members in January 2016. In the
following year, implementation and
training support were provided.

Housing Policy
Development and
Legal Review

2021

2019

2014-17

2021-2022

Enrolment
Support

A Communications Guide was
developed to guide decision
making and engagement
processes. The Guide included
a Community Engagement
Strategy for increasing the level
of community involvement,
including defining the roles of
Chief and Council, and Band
management. The Guide also set
out communication principles
for meetings and gatherings,
standards of practice and online
communication guidelines.

Enrolment support of the Housing
Manager in the Victoria Island University (VIU) First Nations Housing Manager
Certificate Program.

With the assistance of a legal
consultant, the existing approved Policy
was legally reviewed and updated. In
addition, the Housing Policy will be
supported with a customized rental
agreement, rent-to-own agreement,
sublease agreement, security &
indemnity agreement, residential home
purchase agreement, certificate of
home ownership, custom allocation
agreement, along with a Tenant
Handbook.

Certificate of
Possession (CP)
Land Acquisition
Framework
Working with the Lands Department,
a consultant specialist is assisted in the
development of a framework that
will be consistent with the laws
under the Indian Act to ensure a fair,
transparent and equitable community
acquisitions of CP Land. This framework
will have the ability to be modified if
Yaq̓it ʔa·knuqⱡi ‘it chooses to go under
Land Code.

Approval to
Participate in CE
In December 2021, the Fund approved
Yaqi̓ t ʔa·knuqⱡi ‘it to participate in its
Credit Enhancement Facility, following a
reassessment process.

F N M H F 2021
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CAPACITY DEVELOP

C A PA C I T Y

Development

Devin Naveau
AFOA Canada 2021 Graduate

Wendy DeBastos
AFOA Canada 2021 Graduate

Through its Capacity Development
Program, the Fund has invested:

A T O TA L O F

$26.4 Million
on Nation building to support the
foundation required to implement and/
or sustain market-/loan-based housing on
communally held First Nations lands.

A T O TA L O F

156
First Nations

2021 Graduates
The First Nations Market Housing Fund wishes
to congratulate the following 2021 graduates
who were supported by the Fund’s Capacity
Development Program.
AFOA Canada
Certified Indigenous Leadership Virtual In-Person
Program
• Jennifer Constant, Mattagami First Nation
• Wendy DeBastos, Mattagami First Nation
• Devin Naveau, Mattagami First Nation
Certified Indigenous Human Resources Professional
• Barbara Tuotsalainen, Lac Seul First Nation
• Dorothy Trout, Lac Seul First Nation

have participated

IN OVER

1,540

capacity building
initiatives,

WITH

4,510

people receiving
training.

The Fund’s Capacity Development Program supports
various areas of Nation building, identified by First
Nations that are vital for a loan-based housing system.
This includes preparing citizens who wish to become
homeowners to better understand and navigate the
housing finance process. The Fund works with each
partnering First Nation at their own pace, to address
their distinct housing challenges. Each partnership is
specifically customized to the community’s capacity,
challenges, and opportunities.
Nation building initiatives were re-imagined beginning
in March 2020 to accommodate online facilitation
and participation. The perseverance and dedication
of First Nations leadership, communities, individuals,
providers, and Fund staff to achieve desired growth
and results are to be celebrated.

Algonquin College
Project Management Essentials Certificate Program
(All graduates from Cree Nation of Chisasibi.)
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Lee-Ann Angatookaluk
Barry Bearskin
Edward Bearskin
Kathryn Borbridge
Roger Chiskamish
Violet Cox
Tina Matthews
Ronald Herodier
June Moar
Maurice Napash
Nellie Bobbish
Roy Neacappo
Jacob Otter
Ronald Pachano
Catherine Rheaume Provost
Virginia Scipio
Ronald Sealhunter
Willard Shem
Shane Snowboy
Ryan Sam

An established governance framework that includes
laws, policies, codes, and practices that are clear, well
understood and implemented by qualified people, and
most importantly trusted by its citizens, are critical to
developing and sustaining a market- or loan-based
housing system. Without these essential elements, the
system will flounder.

Lands and Economic Development
Nation building needs met by the Fund:

•

Economic Development Plan

•

Economic Development Training

•

Engineering Study

•

Environmental Plan, Assessment, Policy, Program

•

Environmental Training

•

GIS & Lands Management Training

•

Land Management Manual

•

Land Use Plan, Land Use Bylaw, Zoning Bylaw

•

Lands Act, Land Tenure, Land Code

•

Lands Registry System

•

National Aboriginal Land Managers
Association Certification

•

Real Estate Institute of Canada Training
& Certification

•

Development on Land Management
Information System

•

Land Survey

Land is a basic element to consider in any housing system.
Is the land suitable for housing – to actually hold what is
constructed, without it being contaminated or unstable?
Is the land spoken for other purposes or is the land better
suited for another purpose such as economic development
or recreation, or should it be respected as a sacred space?
Is there potable water, a key component to sustain
housing development? These considerations require study
by qualified people and a plan that reflects the vision of
the First Nation.

VIU
First Nation Housing Manager Certificate
• Sharon McKay, Simpcw First Nation
F N M H F 2021
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Governance
Nation building needs met by the Fund:

•

Aboriginal Law & Policy Training

•

Arrears Management

•

Business Management

•

Bylaw Development

•

CAPA Courses

•

Capital Planning

•

Communications, Web Design

•

Social Media & Toastmasters Training

•

Community Management

•

Community Strategic Plan

•

Comprehensive Community Plan

•

Election Code

•

Engineering Study

•

Governance Policy

•

Leadership, Governance & Management

•

Matrimonial Real Property Law

•

Membership Code

•

Organizational Review & Development

•

Project Management Training

•

Public Administration Training

•

Staff/Management Development

•

University Degree Course

•

Effective Management Act Plan

•

Ethical Decision Making

•

First Nations Sustainable Development Guideline

•

Credit Enhancement Implementation

•

CIL Course / FNTI Course

•

IT & Computer Training

For laws and policies to be developed, studied,
communicated, voted upon, and proclaimed, there must
be a system of governance that promotes participation.
The Fund has supported the development and passage
of community election codes and laws with communities
essential to strong governance. This may include learning
from the past and traditional forms of governance,
to move forward into the future. Understanding the
community’s needs as articulated through a comprehensive
community plan can be an empowering piece of
governance – something the Fund has supported in many
communities. A road map which considers the community

needs in terms of new household formations, including
birth/morbidity/migration rates to plan for appropriate
housing responses is another key factor in Nation building
in terms of meeting needs both now and into the future.

Mattagami First Nation – Certified
Indigenous Leadership Program
Mattagami First Nation is a strong and proud Ojibway and
Oji-Cree community who are the traditional peoples of the
shores of the Mattagami River and Mattagami Lake areas
as far as the Moose River head waters. The meaning of
‘Mattagami’ in Ojibway is ‘meeting of the waters’, which
perfectly describes Mattagami’s deep connection to the
land and water in its culture, history and daily life. There
are 636 registered members of Mattagami First Nation, of
which nearly one-third currently live on-reserve.
The community is currently situated on the shores of
Mattagami Lake approximately one hundred kilometres
south of Timmins, 25 kilometres north of Gogama,
Ontario. Mattagami’s closest First Nation community
neighbours are Brunswick House First Nation, Matachewan
First Nation and Flying Post First Nation, whom are all
members of the Wabun Tribal Council. A signatory to
Treaty #9, Mattagami was relocated from its original
community in 1921 due to flooding caused by hydro
development.
There are many positive developments taking place in
Mattagami First Nation. The Nation is working with the
First Nations Market Housing Fund (FNMHF) to strengthen
the administrative capacity of its housing stock and meet
the long-term housing demands on-reserve. Mattagami
is a signatory of the First Nations Land Management Act
and in the developmental phase of Land Code to enhance
Mattagami’s jurisdiction over its reserve lands.
A Comprehensive Community Plan is in the works to
provide Mattagami with an overarching roadmap to
guide Mattagami investment in housing, community
facilities, infrastructure, and other community development
initiatives.
In August 2021, three Councillors of the Mattagami First
Nation successfully completed the Certified Indigenous
Leadership (CIL) Virtual In-Person Program offered by
AFOA Canada. The First Nations Market Housing Fund

congratulates Jennifer Constant, Wendy DeBastos,
and Devin Naveau, who were supported by the Fund’s
Capacity Development Program.
The CIL In-Person Program is specifically designed
to enhance the knowledge, skills, and professional
development of elected officials to enable them to
better perform their functions and build community
prosperity and financial wellbeing.

Value of CIL Program to Participants
Councillor Wendy DeBastos is serving a third term
while this is Devin Naveau’s second term on Mattagami
Council. Jennifer Constant is a past member having
completed several consecutive terms with Mattagami
Council prior to 2021.
Here is what the Councillors had to say about their
participation in the CIL Program and the value it brought
to their roles.

“As a newly elected youth with

little experience in governance,

I quickly realized education was the first step in
becoming an effective leader. It was programs like
AFOA’s Certified Indigenous Leadership program that
provided the necessary learning opportunities to build
the foundational skills in leadership to better serve my
community. AFOA has put together a strong team of
professionals with the abilities to effectively teach the
content of the programs offered. I highly recommend
the CIL program for those who are looking to enhance
their skills in finance and governance.”

“Hello, my name is Wendy, I am
from Mattagami First Nation.
(Boozhoo! Wendy Indizhinikaaz,
Mattagami First Nation nindoonjii).

When I registered for the CIL Program, I was a little
nervous that I would fail the course assignments and
walk away disappointed. I was wrong to feel that way.
The Program was welcoming with great teachers and
participants. This was my first experience with online
learning. We learned together as a group.
I hoped to learn how to better participate in my
community as an elected leader. I enjoyed the
Governance portion of the course, because it gave me
a better understanding of my roles and responsibilities
as a Councillor. I also gained more knowledge on how
managers, staff, and the CEO effectively work together
to reach our Community’s long-term plans. The course
also showed me that through Community engagement
and pushing forward with a Community Plan, our
Community can accomplish many great things.
While in the program, I enjoyed participating in the
breakaway groups. It was in these sessions that we
had open discussions amongst ourselves on ways to
resolve, by sharing experiences. All communities are
unique geographically and we have different economic
capabilities. We all had one common goal, community
well being and safety!
Due to the pandemic, we completed our Program via
Zoom. We had an exceptional team of instructors and
participants. I would definitely sign up for another
training session with AFOA Canada and highly
recommend those considering running for Council
or even on Council to sign up for the Program.
It was a great experience!”

Devin Naveau

Migwech,

1st term (April 2019 – October 2021) | 2nd term (October 2021 – Present)

Wendy DeBastos

– Councillor
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Cree Nation of Chisasibi – Project
Management Essentials Program
The Cree Nation of Chisasibi (CNC) is one of the largest Cree
coastal and rapidly growing communities situated on the
eastern coast of James Bay, which is located at the south end
of Hudson Bay and located between northern Ontario and
Quebec. Chisasibi has a registered population of:
OVER

5,000
Members

PME

Graduate
Insights
Since I took project
management classes back
at university, I wanted to
deepen my understanding
and theories around this
subject to benefit my work
for the Cree Nation of
Chisasibi. I always like to
seize every opportunity
to learn.

The Fund invited graduates
to share insights on their
participation in the PME Program.

What did you expect
to learn in this course?
I didn’t know what to
expect but it turned out
to be very interesting.

The basics of how to
manage a project.

Project
estimations.

How to assign contracts
for a subcontractor
and how to negotiate
the payment.

WITH OVER

90%

of the members living on reserve.

The CNC administration has over

200

full time
employees

It helped us learn that we are on the right
track on how we run our project, but it
helped to learn some new ideas and get
some motivation from the other participants.

I hoped that it will
give more structure
to CNC employees
who took this class
when it comes time
to manage any kind
of project.

How has
this Program
helped you or
your team?

WITH

4

primary
business lines

A N D A T O TA L O F
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I’ve realized that the structure I was using
before was not effective and have since
analyzed our position and concluded that
to get ahead of what has been happening
there needs to be one person in charge.

departments

In 2020, the Cree Nation of Chisasibi enrolled 20 participants
in the Algonquin College Project Management Essentials
(PME) Program. Chisasibi’s objective was to provide managers
and supervisors the necessary planning and management
tools to ensure effective project delivery. The participants
graduated in 2021.
The program is designed to deliver practical, hands-ontraining in the core knowledge and skills of the discipline of
project management. The program is delivered in person as
well as on-line. While the preference for Chisasibi was inperson, the course was delivered virtually, and Instructor-led
through Zoom given COVID restrictions.

The importance of consistent
communication at all
stages of the project. The
value of risk management.
Time and cost are critical
factors to ensure the project
gets delivered when it is
supposed to.

Procurement and contract management.

Yes I would recommend it even if
you are not in a managerial position.
It helps with your everyday tasks
and when you have to organize large
events for the community.

I would recommend this course to
people that have the ability to express
themselves through writing.

Yes. It’s good to learn the proper terminology
of the steps in a project.

Planning and risk management.

What were some
key things you
learned?

Project schedule and cost.

To plan better
and to set dates.

For a project to work, you don’t only
need resources like money or equipment.
You need committed people who will
give everything to accomplish the goal.

Learning to listen and
be open to suggestions
and time management.

Yes. It gave me a better
understanding on how to work on
projects, setting and meeting goals.

I’ve learned the complexity
of becoming or being a
Project Manager.

Overcoming my shyness, doing
a presentation to the group. The
teacher was great using group
presentations, everyone did
their piece presenting. This really
helped a lot.

Learning at a fast pace
and learning via Zoom.

Often during the course, I had my daughter to
mind, and we had to do our job and do the
course at the same time as we were lacking
reliable staff to look after things, and we had to
work from home. I asked for extensions when
work needed attention immediately and would
work on my assignments in the evenings.

Dynamix – how
personalities
respond to different
situations, time
management is very
important to any
task.

What
challenges,
if any, did
you face in
the course?

It’s a great skill to learn. It gives
you more options and a better
understanding on how things
are done.

Virtual
Zoom.

No. Too much
to learn in a
such a short
time.

Would you recommend
this course for others?
The instructor was great! Would
love to take a course from her again.

The teacher was really good at teaching
the course. Reading my Dynamix personal
profile was very interesting.

F N M H F 2021

|

Annual Report

29

Housing and Infrastructure
Nation building needs met by the Fund:

people. Well beyond the cost of a home is its maintenance
and upkeep costs. Whether or not a housing loan is in
place, housing costs money.
Staff require the proper knowledge and skillset and
potentially appropriate professional designations to
support a First Nation in taking their financial resources
to the next level. Developing, recovering from the
pandemic, and/or expanding economic opportunities to
create employment for individuals to support their ability
to take on homeowner responsibilities is yet another key
to sustaining market-/loan-based housing and building a
resale market.

•

Housing Authority

•

Housing Committee Training

•

Housing Condition Assessment

•

Housing Inventory Management System

•

Housing Legal Review

•

Housing Manager Training

•

Housing Policy

•

Housing Standard

•

Housing Strategy

•

Operational Review

•

Operations, Maintenance & Public Works

Human Resources

•

Staff Workshop & Conference Attendance

Nation building needs met by the Fund:

Lac Seul First Nation – Certified Indigenous
Human Resource Professional Program
In April 2021, two senior staff members of the Lac Seul
First Nation in Northwest Ontario, successfully completed
the Certified Indigenous Human Resource Professional
Program (I-HRP) Virtual In-Person Program offered by
AFOA Canada and received their I-HRP designation!
To achieve this designation, Dorothy Trout, Executive
Director and Barbara Ruotsalainen, Initiative Manager,
Bringing Our Children Home were required to successfully
complete all course requirements, and have a minimum
of two-years full time senior management, supervisory
experience in an Indigenous environment.

Along with Chief and Council, the First Nations
Market Housing Fund congratulates Barbara and
Dorothy, both of whom were supported by the
Fund’s Capacity Development Program.
The I-HRP is a 12-day program which is delivered
in four three-day sessions. It is currently the
only national program in Canada that addresses
the competency needs of those working in
Indigenous environments.

Value of Program to Participants
Strong housing governance is essential in removing
uncertainty around home and land control/tenure for both
the First Nation and its citizens in sustaining a market-/
loan-based housing system.

Financial Management
Nation building needs met by the Fund:

•

AFOA Canada Courses

•

Accounting, Business Accounting, General
Ledger & Financial Reporting Training

•

ACCPAC & Accounting Software Training

•

Asset Management Training & Planning

•

Conference Attendance

•

Finance Manual Development

•

University Degree Course

•

Financial Literacy Training

•

Financial Management Analysis

•

Financial Planning

•

Financial Policy, Bylaw & Law

•

HST Recovery Training

•

Trust Management

Financial needs are abundant in First Nations communities.
They extend to laws, to policies, to procedures, and to

•

Employment Law

•

HR Training & Workplace Safety

•

HR/Personnel Management & Policy

•

Human Rights & Occupational Training

•

Internal Communications Plan

•

Workplace Investigations Certificate

•

Labour Relations Certificate Program

•

Team Building

In addition to the ‘hard’ areas of lands, housing and
finance, there are important ancillary needs to address
within a community. For example, does the First Nation
involve citizens in major developments; does the
communication process work; does Chief and Council see
itself as an employer, respect and apply laws and policies
to keep its employees safe. These are areas the Fund has
also supported in partnering First Nations.

Here is what was said about their experience in the
Certified Indigenous Human Resources Professionals
(I-HRP) In-Person Program and the value it brought to
their roles, organization, and community.
•

This program was unique in that it taught
us that HR needs to use an Indigenous lens
when dealing with issues within a First Nation
organization. This means having a much stronger
focus on family than you would in a mainstream
organization. We need to be trauma informed and to
take the time to understand where people are coming
from with respect to the struggles and behaviours in
and out of the workplace, as well as their spiritual
beliefs and well-being. Learning how to meld
Indigenous and organization culture together was
valuable.

•

The program was designed to really engage
the participants. As most participants had an HR
background, engaging group discussions on various
key topics flowed easily. This also contributed to
building a network of professionals we can now call
upon for support in our roles when needed.

•

The course schedule was perfectly timed with
all of the challenging HR issues being faced during
COVID-19 (unchallenged in the courts) such as
vaccines, lockdowns, working from home, etc.
F N FN,
M H F 2021
Lac Seul
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Barbara Ruotsalainen, Initiative Manager,
Bringing Our Children Home:

“In my prior position as

Acting Executive Director,
I was often called upon by
Chief and Council to advise on
COVID-19 related issues such
as working from home.

This program helped me to understand the
additional family issues that impact employees
and not just the COVID-19 issues. For example,
from my experience working in mainstream
organizations, your cousin having COVID-19
does not impact your ability to function at
work. In an Indigenous organization, it easily
can. “Lock down” does not have the same
trauma related meaning in mainstream settings
as it does in an Indigenous organization. The
program taught me how to look at the bigger
picture and understand that everyone has a
story and to be open and not rigid to how
things have to be. COVID-19 severely impacted
people in ways that I did not personally feel. The
CIHRP Program helped me to see this.
The timing of this course was perfect, and
the course content spans many important
topics in the ever-changing world of HR. Being
delivered virtually also served as an advantage,
as there were no travel costs or travel time
to be incurred. As we are located within the
Central Time Zone, the time difference did mean
starting at 7:30. I would definitely recommend
this course.”

Barbara Ruotsalainen
Initiative Manager,
Bringing Our Children Home

About Lac Seul First Nation

Outreach

The Lac Seul First Nation is located in the northwest
part of Ontario and is made up of three distinct and
separate settlements (Frenchman’s Head, Kejick Bay
and Whitefish Bay) with a total land base of 66,248
acres. The general membership consists of 2,700
people, two thirds of which live off reserve. Lac Seul
is one of the largest Reserves in the Treaty #3 region in
northwestern Ontario.

Sessions provide the opportunity for
citizens to begin thinking about
homeownership and the possibility of
market- or loan-based housing. A
breadth of topics include homeownership
and increasing personal finance awareness.

The First Nation employs 143 full time employees,
increasing to 200 with seasonal and casual employees.
There are numerous economic ventures and
partnerships that the First Nation enjoys in various
sectors, including construction, power generation
and retail. The Council includes the Chief and eight
Councillors.
The First Nation has been in partnership with the
Fund since 2013 and has participated in a number
of capacity building initiatives. Investment in the
professional development and certification of both
Council and employees has been a high priority.
Currently the Fund is supporting the development of
a Comprehensive Community Plan (CCP) and Land
Use Plan (LUP) as well as a Feasibility Study on the
consolidation of housing under a Housing Authority.
Lac Seul was publicly announced by the Fund in
December 2013 as eligible to participate in the Fund’s
Credit Enhancement Facility.

Preparing for Homeownership
A variety of workshops are offered through the
Fund’s CE Specialists to assist potential homeowners
in preparing for, understanding, and navigating
the housing finance process. These workshops
have proved popular with close to 1,100 people
participating over the past three years. It takes
time for folks to save for a down payment, address
any credit issues, and to fully understand their
responsibilities as a homeowner. The following
workshops are offered on an ongoing basis:

Personal
Finance
Information regarding mortgages and the
steps to buying a home are presented.
Topics include budgeting and setting financial
goals, understanding credit, managing debt,
and debt servicing ratios.

Homeownership
The various paths to homeownership
available to citizens through the Fund’s
Credit Enhancement Facility are discussed.
These include building, purchasing, renovating,
or refinancing a home.

One-on-One
Citizens are offered the opportunity
to confidentially discuss their financial
situation in terms of preparedness
to qualify for a home loan. Options to
strengthen credit worthiness, and steps to
take to budget and save for a downpayment
are also discussed.

LAC SEUL FIRST NATION
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HOMEOWNERSHIP

HOMEOWNERSHIP

Dreams
Fulfilled

Just Follow Your Dreams –
Siksika Nation, AB

“Just follow your dreams, if you want
something you go get it and it takes a lot
of support from other people. Don’t give
up. You have to keep going no matter
what. There is also something that you
are going to run into. You just have to
push through, and you will get it.”
- JONIE

“This has been such an amazing
milestone in our lives.”
- BLAINE

Jonie and Blaine Big Old Man took advantage of Siksika
Nation’s First Nations Market Housing Fund Housing
Program to purchase their own home. The couple admit
that it can be a daunting experience yet encourage others
to stick to their goals as you will eventually arrive at your
destination.
The 1438 square foot house Jonie and Blaine decided
to purchase was built by Nelson Homes in High River
and delivered by truck to Siksika Nation. Jonie said they
decided to purchase their home, and to go through the
ownership program because they could not get approval
for on-reserve housing.
“I thought it was time and we needed to do something
and find something on our own because we tried with
Siksika Housing, but we were always denied application.
So, I thought there has to be another way. I did some
online research and Nelson Homes came up,” said Jonie.

Blaine and Jonie Big Old
Man and Nelson Breaker
outside new home.

“We have been waiting 10 years, even over 10 years to
even qualify for a house through Housing; we never met
the requirements, or we have always been at the bottom
of the list. So, we thought we need to think of something
else and we thought of those other units where you are
basically repairing a home. But we thought we might as well
go brand new if we are going to go that way,’ said Blaine.

The FNMHF program is a partnership with the Bank of
Montreal and was approved by Siksika Nation Chief
and Council in 2012 as an alternative for Siksika Nation
members, who qualify, to acquire a home on the nation
through a loan.
Nelson Breaker is a senior accountant for the Siksika
Nation Tribal Administration and is the Market Housing
Administrator for the FNMHF program at Siksika Nation.
He has 25 years of experience in finances and was the first
person in Alberta to get a house built and backed by the
program back in 2015.
Nelson notes that through the program, applicants can
apply for financial backing to build a new home on
the First Nation or have renovations completed to their
existing home. To date, 114 have applied for financial
backing at Siksika Nation and 10 applicants have been
accepted. “The other people did not qualify because
they were not ready. They were not ready with their
budgeting, their credit check, and their job. These are the
kind of things that we have to work on. Through credit
counselling, we work with them for a whole year to get
their credit score back up there, to the levels that BMO
wants so they can qualify for a housing loan,” said Nelson.
Nelson has been through the process and knows it can
seem like a lot of red tape, and they are looking at ways
to improve and streamline the process for new applicants.
“We are trying to speed up the process through BMO,
see where all the gaps are through the First Nations
Market Housing. We are getting feedback from our nation
members to see where the red tape is so others can have
smooth process,” said Nelson.
The Big Old Mans say the process hasn’t been easy and
are thankful to Nelson for assisting them through it. “It
has been up and down because most of the time you are
doing things on your own, but Nelson was there to guide
us, ‘okay this is what you need to do’, so it was just basic
step by step of trying to … cause you have to phone the
power and the natural gas and utility companies. You have
to request for a new service and that is what takes really
long too,” said Jonie.

to save money in the long run by being in a spot that is
accessible to the community water system, and a spot
that does not require a lot of power poles to reach; cost
savings in the home loan.
Jonie and Blaine look forward to the future when their
housing loan is paid off and they can retire in comfort.
They hope to pay off their 25-year loan sooner by
taking advantage of time they will be allowed to make
accelerated payments or make a lump sum payment.
Jonie said they see this as an investment and encourage
other to consider going this route to get a home as well.
The couple estimates that a one month housing loan
payment is equal to what they would be paying for rent
somewhere else. “We thought of renting in Strathmore
but why rent when you can use that money towards your
own home.”

“I encourage nation members
to look into your own home.

I mean you have to have great credit and good
references and I think this is the best way. Because
this is your own, it’s yours to keep. And it is good
for these younger ones to see that you could have
your own home in the future, work for it.”

Blaine & Jonie
Big Old Man
Homeowners, Siksika Nation, AB

Prior to moving into their new home, the Big Old Mans
were residing with Jonie’s grandmother. The site they
chose for their new home is located nearby and in the
area where they grew up. The location also allows them
F N M H F 2021
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The Wedding Barn –
Lower Nicola Indian Band, B.C.
In 1992, Gail built her home using loan
financing via a Section 10 Ministerial Loan
Guarantee. She expedited repayment of
this by increasing payments each year and
was able to pay off her 20 year amortization
loan by year 12.
The last major renovation occurred in 2015
when house siding and roof was replaced.
When Gail’s daughter asked if she could have
her wedding outside and in the back field, Gail
promptly planned for another major renovation.
A renovation loan was obtained from BMO. The
bathrooms were totally re-done. The live edge
counter was something that Gail envisioned
from Pinterest.

Main bathroom – after

After the bathrooms were renovated, she
worked with local carpenters to build a
“wedding barn”, that would then turn into her
second carport.
The renovation projects were completed by the
middle of August and the wedding was held in
early October 2021. Gail now uses this wedding
barn to store family travel trailers and ranch
equipment.

Main bathroom – before

F N M H F 2021
Ensuite bathroom – after

Ensuite bathroom – before
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Tiny Homes Project –
Heiltsuk Nation, B.C.
Haítcístut is a Heiltsuk word that means ‘to turn things
around and make things right again’.
Founded on the Heiltsuk Potlatch concept, Heiltsuk and
the Federal and Provincial Governments have entered into
the Haítcístut Reconciliation Process, to negotiate a new
Government to Government relationship. This process
focuses on the social wellbeing within the following areas:

Infrastructure
and Housing
Q̓ átuw̓as Brown with her mother
and nieces who were excitingly
checking out her new house.

Employment,
Training and
Economic
Development
Education
Health and
Wellness
Lands and
Environment
Self-Government
Marine and
Fisheries

Tiny homes under construction

Q̓ átuw̓as Brown and partner
Steven Smith the day they received
the key to their new home.

Nestled on the central coast of B.C., Bella Bella is home
for the Heiltsuk Nation. Over the past 20 years, the
Heiltsuk population of over 2,400 members has grown
steadily, however the population of Bella Bella has
remained fairly constant due to the lack of available
housing. The local economy is growing and many
Heiltsuk members who are living outside the village
would like to return home. The community is facing the
joint problems of not enough housing and a building
stock that falls into premature disrepair.
The reconciliation process was seen as an opportunity
to look beyond the general scope of how ISC delivers
housing. The Heiltsuk Tribal Council reached out to the
Indigenous Research Support Initiative (IRSI) to facilitate
a housing-related research collaboration with the
University of British Columbia (UBC) and for support to
find implementation partners for the design and building
needs for the Nation. The UBC research team began with
a design phase which engaged the Heiltsuk Nation in a
participatory process. Community consultation resulted in
the identification of culturally relevant housing options.
As a first step, the community chose to proceed with
a ‘tiny home’ project that would provide independent
living options for Elders and other individuals, couples,
and even young families. With IRSI’s support, the Heiltsuk
Nation developed implementation partnerships with
FPInnovations and Builders without Borders.
The Nation proceeded to offer four tiny homes for sale
(approximately 384 sq. ft.) through a lottery application
process held between August and September 2021. The
building cost of each tiny home was $125,000.00. A
new home subsidy of $55,000.00 was applied to each
tiny home making the sale price $70,000.00. Lottery
applicants were required to have their finances in
place for the direct purchase of a tiny home, including
a confirmation letter from their bank, should their
application be drawn.
Heiltsuk Nation successfully launched their
homeownership program with Fund-backing for all four
loans for the tiny homes. Future phases of this project
will address home designs for larger families using the
established community engagement process.
Congratulations to the new homeowners!
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Homeownership Milestone with the Fund Mohawks of the Bay of Quinte, ON

“ The Mohawks of the Bay of
Quinte (MBQ) are encouraged to

The Mohawks of the Bay of Quinte (MBQ) is located
in southern Ontario, approximately 250 kilometres east
of Toronto and 250 kilometres southwest of Ottawa.
The Mohawks of the Bay of Quinte is the official band
name, and the name of the reserve is Tyendinaga
Mohawk Territory (TMT).

have reached the major milestone

The opportunity of homeownership has long been in
place. In 1974, MBQ introduced a revolving housing
loan program. The program was successful; however, the
demand far exceeded the available budget within
the program. In addition to this program, a renovation
program was added. MBQ implemented their Fund-backed
homeownership program in 2014, further expanding
its housing finance options for members to build, buy,
renovate, or refinance a home on TMT. By the end of 2021,
the Fund has backed 129 housing loans. This is a major
milestone to celebrate as the homeownership dreams
of these families are fulfilled.

has been a huge success for

Breakdown of Fund-backed Housing Loans
T O TA L O F

of having 100 loans backed
through the First Nations Market
Housing Fund. This initiative
our community, not only giving
members another option to seek
homeownership, but by also
reducing wait times and getting
them into their new homes much
faster. Since 2014, MBQ has
utilized over $16 million through
the First Nations Market Housing
Fund, and we look forward to

35
Purchase

continuing to break down barriers

T O TA L O F

- CHEIF DON MARACLE

7
Renovation

Mohawks of the Bay of Quinte Homes

to homeownership here in
Tyendinaga Mohawk Territory.”

T O TA L O F

37
New
Construction
T O TA L O F

50
Refinance
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‘Our forever home’
Membertou, Nova Scotia
Since a very young age, Ryan Ginnish, a Membertou
member dreamed of building his own home. He knew
exactly what he wanted for him and his family – a house
different from the rest. Some of the choices Ryan
and his wife Jacquie made not only are practical; they
look great too! For example, they chose Novac cedar
shakes for their siding, a hard vinyl product that looks
like cedar but will last a lifetime. They went with a metal
roof which will hold 32 solar panels to provide energy
for both the heating and cooling. While Ryan noted these
items cost more up front, the family will save money
and reduce their carbon footprint over the longer term.
When talking with Ryan, it is clear he knew what he
wanted, beginning with a desirable location close to the
school. Choosing their own plan with an open concept
design, the Ginnishes wanted the tallest ceilings
possible, settling for 9 feet. While grateful for the loan
guarantee from Membertou and the Fund, Ryan knew
it would not be enough for the home he wanted.
While he knows they will never own the land, he said
the value comes from knowing that this is his forever
home – a home for his kids and potential grandkids.

the costs. Secondly, Ryan stressed finding the right
contractor is key, even if you must wait. Thirdly, he
suggested not being rigid about a timeline and not
getting frustrated. Sometimes things do not move
as fast as you would like. There’s lots of follow-up
needed. You need to be flexible and stay on it. Lastly,
Ryan said to be prepared to make choices – about
a hundred different things – including windows,
fixtures, doorknobs and lots and lots of colours. In
Ryan’s view it is important to get what you want.

Ryan and Jacquie Ginnish’s House Membertou

Ryan said none of this would have been possible
without his mentor and business partner, Malcolm
Smith. ‘He played an integral role in my success.’
Ryan, Jacquie and their kids cannot wait to move
out of his mother’s basement on the reserve and
into their 3600 square foot ‘forever’ home.

Ryan has been the proud owner for the last 11 years
of Thunderbird Commercial Insurance, a majority
Mi’kmaq-owned insurance brokerage. Ryan’s inspiration
and work ethic comes from his mother who worked
full time and went to school while taking care of Ryan
and his two brothers.
Ryan credits Jacquie with making the house look nice
after spending countless hours researching, doing
her homeowner and looking at other places. He says
his favorite part of the house is the kitchen as they both
like cooking and eating as a family. The open concept
supports their ability to be together and communicate
even if they are doing different activities in each room.
When asked, Ryan offered some tips for other potential
homeowners: Firstly, you need to be prepared financially.
Ryan noted you must prove you can afford to borrow
and pay back the loan. Plus you need your downpayment
and money for other costs saved. He suggested budgeting
to spend more than you planned for; in their case,
COVID-19 delayed the construction start and increased
F N M H F 2021
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SPREADING THE WO

SPREADING

The Word

Chiefs Of Ontario

AFN AGA – Trade Show

The Fund was invited to participate in the Housing
Engagement process undertaken by the Chiefs of Ontario
(COO) during 2021. Surveys, supplemented by a series of
facilitated discussions, are helping COO consider the various
options that might work best for Ontario First Nations.

The Fund participated in the Circle of Trade show in July 2021,
facilitated by Alfred Linklater. This presented the opportunity
for the Fund to interact virtually with AGA attendees to discuss
opportunities to work with the Fund, and to catch up with some
First Nations already working with us.

CMHC – First Nations Lending Programs
for Homeownership

FMB, FNFA, Staff Information Sessions

The Fund was first invited to present in a forum for
lenders in British Columbia as a part of CMHC BC’s
desire to raise awareness of Indigenous housing options
on reserve. A second virtual session was held for CMHC
underwriting staff located across the country, followed
by an Ontario-focussed session. CMHC offers a mortgage
loan insurance product (MLI) in support of Fund-backed
loans, where a First Nation decides to require MLI. Lots
of great discussions occurred during the sessions to help
lenders and staff understand several lending options,
including the variety of ways the Fund works with First
Nations to prepare them to develop and implement a
homeownership program for their citizens.

AFN SCA –
Launch of Engagement Sessions
Chief Sid Peters (left), Trustee, hosted the sessions
with leadership along with session facilitator,
Harold Tarbell (right).
During the AFN SCA, the Fund held two sessions
with leadership. These sessions officially launched
the Fund’s pursuit of dialogue with stakeholders
on how to revitalize its products and services to
get more homes on the ground. Participants were
invited to complete a survey to help understand
barriers to homeownership from the leader’s
perspective. The Fund’s Reform Strategy was also
shared with attendees. Chief Dennis Meeches,
Long Plain First Nation, won the gift certificate
drawn from those who completed and submitted
the leaders’ survey.

Information sessions were held between FMB, FNFA and Fund
staff to provide the opportunity to learn more about each other’s
organization and where collaborations can have impacts for shared
First Nations partnerships. Jason Peltier and Nathan Sack from
FMB, and Jody Anderson from FNFA delivered presentations to
the Fund staff on their respective organizations and offerings. The
sessions were well received as everyone learned a great deal from
each other on how the three organizations operate similarly or
differently, and what programs and services are offered. The Fund
staff have been working closely with FMB staff on Nation building
initiatives when both organizations partner with the same First
Nation.

Housing Resource Services (HRS), B.C.
The HRS organization, sponsored by ANTCO, has been under
development for several years. HRS received some funding from
ISC and are working to further develop the services they will
provide to First Nations in B.C. HRS will perform some services
directly for First Nations, especially for smaller communities that
may have limited human resource capacity in the area of housing.
The Fund is excited to partner with HRS to collaborate where
the work of both organizations can complement one another.
HRS, as part of a series of information sessions, asked the Fund
to deliver a workshop on personal finance. Scott Flamand, CE
Specialist, delivered the workshop on behalf of the Fund. The
session included topics on budgeting, setting financial goals,
understanding credit, managing debt, and debt servicing ratios.

Ontario First Nations Technical Services
Corporation (OFNTSC)
The Fund was a sponsor at the OFNTSC 2021 Student Classic Gold
Day Fundraiser, making a difference for First Nations students and
helping them achieve their goals. OFNTSC is working with the
Fund on a partnership arrangement whereby OFNTSC will provide
some training in technical areas to First Nations the Fund is serving
who have an identified need in one of OFNTSC’s areas of specialty.
F FMB,
N MFNFA
H F Staff
2 0 2Sessions
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OUR

First Nations
Partners

British
Columbia

Adams Lake Indian Band (2013)

Halalt First Nation (2015)

Skwah First Nation (2015)

Kwantlen First Nation (2017)

Seabird Island Band (2009)

Malahat First Nation (2013)

Lake Cowichan First Nation (2015)

Little Shuswap Lake Indian Band (2016)

Katzie First Nation (2018)

Champagne Aishihik First Nations (2011)

ʔaq’am St. Mary’s Indian Band (2010)

Tsawout First Nation (2013)

Leq’á:mél First Nation (2015)

Quatsino First Nation (2016)

Kispiox Band (2018)

Carcross/Tagish First Nation (2013)

Tk’emlups Indian Band (2010)

Lower Nicola Indian Band (2014)

Nooaitch Indian Band (2015)

Skidegate Band Council (2016)

K’ómoks First Nation (2018)

Kwanlin Dün First Nation (2015)

Neskonlith Indian Band (2011)

Okanagan Indian Band (2014)

Penelakut Tribe (2015)

Tsartlip First Nation (2016)

Tsal’alh First Nation (2018)

Tr’ondëk Hwëch’in (2016)

Penticton Indian Band (2012)

Simpcw First Nation (2014)

Sechelt Indian Band (2015)

Nuxalk Nation (2017)

Teslin Tlingit Council (2016)

T’it’q’et First Nation (2012)

Upper Nicola Band (2014)

Skeetchestn Indian Band (2015)

Skowkale First Nation (2017)

The Fund’s partnering First Nations share
the belief that a sound market-housing
option is a relevant part of the housing
options available to offer their citizens.

Yukon

Alberta

F N M H F 2021
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Saskatchewan

Ontario

Lac La Ronge Indian Band (2009)

Batchewana First Nation (2009)

Mississauga First Nation (2011)

Lac Seul First Nation
(2013)

Garden River First Nation
(2014)

Cree Nation of
Mistissini (2017)

Wasauksing First Nation
(2017)

Nova Scotia
Onion Lake Cree Nation (2009)

Atikameksheng Anishnawbek (2010

Whitefish River First Nation (2011)

Mohawks of the
Bay of Quinte (2013)

Alderville First Nation
(2015)

Flying Dust First Nation (2013)

Hiawatha First Nation (2010)

Nipissing First Nation (2012)

Ojibways of Pic River
First Nation (2013)

Saugeen First Nation
(2017)

Manitoba

Moose Cree First Nation (2010)

Wikwemikong Unceded
Indian Reserve (2012)

Temagami First Nation
(2013)

Wahta Mohawks (2017)

Bingwi Neyaashi
Anishinaabek (2019)

Membertou (2009)

Quebec

Newfoundland
and Labrador

Cree Nation of
Waswanipi (2013)

Miawpukek
First Nation (2008)

Fisher River Cree Nation (2015)

Sagamok Anishnawbek (2010)

Beausoleil First Nation (2013)

Wahnapitae First Nation
(2013)

Mattagami First Nation
(2017)

Cree Nation of
Eastmain (2013)

Long Plain First Nation (2015)

Serpent River First Nation (2010)

Curve Lake First Nation (2013)

Aundeck Omni Kaning
First Nation (2014)

Chapleau Cree
First Nation (2017)

Cree Nation of
Wemindji (2013)

M’Chigeeng First Nation (2011)

Henvey Inlet First Nation (2013)

Chippewas of Nawash
Unceded First Nation (2014)

Mohawk Council
of Akwesasne (2017)

Cree Nation of
Chisasibi (2014)
F N M H F 2021
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Edward
Island

Lennox Island
First Nation (2017)
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OUR REACH
OUR

Reach

Canada

OVER

41%

2/28

of First Nations in
Canada have chosen to
work with the fund.

9/14

17/34

YUKON
TERRITORY
NORTHWEST
TERRITORIES

16/63

101/
203

14/40

BRITISH
COLUMBIA
A L B E R TA

MANITOBA

QUEBEC

NEWFOUNDLAND
AND LABRADOR

NEW
BRUNSWICK

S A S K AT C H E W A N

P. E . I .
O N TA R I O

18/48

N O VA S C O T I A

19/75

67/134
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FINANCIAL SNAPSH

FINANCIAL

Snapshot

$300
Million
original investment
still held in Trust

MANAGEMENT

Discussion
and Analysis
The Fund’s management discussion and analysis provides
a narrative to accompany the financial statements for
the year ended December 31, 2021. The areas discussed
include Capacity Development (CD), Credit Enhancement
(CE), Investment Management and Fund Administration.
The planned activities of the Fund are driven by the
multiyear business plan and the Strategic Priorities of the
Board of Trustees. Some highlights that took place in
2021 are listed below:

$390
Million
total assets as of 2021

Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic

Just over

$1 Billion

7,000
Housing
Loans

in potential credit
approved to support
an estimated

13

$1.8M

spent on
CD in 2021

lending
partners

Money spent on travel
IN

2020

$31,335

2021

$nil

The pandemic continued to be the most impactful external
event to the operations of the Fund. With respect to CD,
the pandemic resulted in restrictions on travel to First
Nations and limited the types of CD work that could be
done. Nevertheless, there was more CD activity in 2021
than 2020. Regarding CE, Fund staff (and CE Specialists)
continued to make efforts to re-engage First Nations
clients to help them qualify for CE, working virtually. For
those approved for CE, the Fund engaged CE Specialists
to work with them to provide training on homeownership
and financial literacy. This was done through video and
tele-conference platforms.
The pandemic also had an impact on investment
management. The economy is in recovery mode and
the Fund now has a more diverse portfolio of assets,
allowing it to better respond to emerging opportunities, in
large part because it is actively managed by professional
investment managers. In 2021, the Fund issued a tender
for a new Investment Management Advisor (IMA). Mercer
LLP was selected; they bring a wealth of expertise and
knowledge to the Fund’s Investment Committee. The IMA
provides advice on future improvements to the Investment
Policy, and they supported the Investment Committee
in monitoring and assessing the performance of the
Investment Managers.

The fourth area where the pandemic impacted the Fund
is the area of administration. Travel restrictions for both
staff and Trustees led to budget surpluses in 2021. There
was uncertainty on when travel would resume. This
uncertainty also resulted in the delay of staffing actions.
Originally, the Fund had planned to staff seven new
positions at the Fund. The staffing did not take place and
will commence in 2022 instead, as the pandemic winds
down. Staff also continued to work from home this year,
as they did in 2020.

Preparing for the Future
The pandemic has accelerated the need for the Fund to
be able to operate in-person and virtually. Looking to the
future, the Fund will continue to make investments in its
information technology tools and staff development. In
2021, the Fund implemented all the recommendations
from the 2019 IT Security Assessment. This assessment is
carried out every 2 years and a new assessment in 2022
is underway. The Fund has also made investments in new
technology and applications to enable staff and Trustees
to engage and work remotely. For example, the Fund
has purchased audio visual equipment as well as licenses
for Zoom rooms to enable more secure, high quality,
video meetings. In 2022, the Fund will be much better
prepared to host and participate in online meetings and
engagement sessions.

Capacity Development
Capacity Development is one of the core products of the
Fund, which entails supporting and facilitating training
and guidance to establish robust systems, policies, and
practices. Recipients of Fund sponsored CD includes First
Nations leadership, administrators, and citizens.
The Business Plan for 2021 continued to place more
emphasis on working with those First Nations already
approved for CD to help them to transition to approval
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for the Fund’s Credit Enhancement Facility. In prior
years, the Fund had put more emphasis on attracting
new applications to the Fund. To improve outcomes
in terms of more First Nations qualifying for the Credit
Enhancement Facility, a key tactic for 2021 was to increase
support for First Nations clients through additional visits
and interactions. With the extension of travel restrictions
well into 2021, the Fund focused on ways of serving
clients that did not require travel. Staff continued to utilize
virtual meeting tools such as Zoom, Skype, Teams, and
other tools to continue having interactive meetings with
First Nations clients. New survey tools were also acquired
to help better understand the needs of First Nations
clients. In 2022, the Fund will be upgrading its Internet
connection to a Fiber Optic connection.
In 2021, CD expenditures totaled $1,799,856, which was
an increase from 2020 by $523,841. Whereas in 2020, the
sudden appearance of the COVID-19 pandemic resulted
in shutdowns and postponement of various activities
that were planned, the world adapted to operating in
this pandemic during 2021. More CD initiatives were
undertaken in 2021 compared to 2020.
The table below provides a comparison of actual CD
amounts spent each year since 2008.

Year

Budget per the
Minister ($)

It should be noted that these CD dollars remain available
for capacity building initiatives in subsequent years, if not
spent in the year they were intended.
While the Fund was able to provide more CD support in
2021 than in 2020, albeit remotely, First Nations clients
have expressed the need for face-to-face interactions. It
is expected that staff will resume travel once restrictions
are lifted and face-to-face interactions are deemed safe. In
anticipation of this eventuality, the Fund sent out a request
for tender and selected a travel agency with experience
in servicing northern travel and having strong ties to First
Nations communities.
CD services are funded by investment income from an
actively managed investment portfolio. Although sufficient
returns were generated to finance the operations of the
Fund, the current formula in which available CD funding
is calculated, results in a declining balance each year. As
the Fund has heard from many First Nations clients with
the desire for the Fund to expand the CD support and
to provide it over a longer period, the Trustees continue
to make representations to seek changes in the way the
available CD funding is calculated. This topic will be one
of primary importance as the reform process advances in
2022.

Actual Amount
Spent on CD ($)

Increase (Decrease) in
Actual Spending Compared
to Prior Year ($)

2008~2012

8,551,412

3,250,388

2,041,603

2013

3,577,500

2,880,541

838,938

2014

3,834,000

5,404,490

2,523,949

2015

3,888,000

4,476,964

(927,526)

2016

3,888,000

1,482,172

(2,994,792)

2017

3,800,000

1,277,564

(204,608)

2018

4,000,000

2,511,203

1,233,639

2019

4,000,000

2,034,073

(477,130)

2020

4,000,000

1,276,015

(758,058)

2021

4,000,000

1,799,856

523,841

43,538,912

26,393,266

Credit Enhancement Facility
The Credit Enhancement Facility was established to provide
additional security to backstop on-reserve housing loans.
This facility provides assurances to third-party lenders and
insurers that repayment of financing arranged for housing
by a qualified First Nation community will be honored up to
the limit of the agreed-upon CE if a First Nation fails to fulfil
its responsibility for the repayment of a loan default.
In 2021, four additional First Nations chose to submit
applications to partner with the Fund. Of these four new
applications, three First Nations were approved for CE and
CD. The remaining new applicant was continuing through
the review process as at year-end.
As per the 2021 Business Plan, there was more emphasis
on working with existing applicants versus attracting
new applicants. The objective was to help more CD First
Nations build up their capacity so they can qualify for
the CE program. One tactic to achieve this objective is to
categorize each type of client interaction and to increase
the overall number of interactions with clients.
The table below illustrates the frequency of virtual meetings
by type for each quarter of 2021. As can be seen, a majority
of meetings with clients are related to CD and helping more
clients with their CD needs. There were of course many
other interactions with clients by email, text, and quick
phone calls.

Type of
Interaction

Frequency of Meetings
with First Nations
Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Assessment

0

1

1

1

Business Development

6

0

0

1

Capacity Development

18

13

20

18

Credit Enhancement

7

3

11

5

Relationship Building

13

23

17

10

In addition to work performed by Fund staff, the
Fund works with two CE Specialists. This has allowed
for expanded support in those communities that are
determined to advance market-based housing. The Fund
continues to use the two CE Specialists, who focus their

efforts strictly on CE and help individuals navigate the loan
financing process. In 2021, the Fund had intended to hire
additional internal resources to also be strictly focused on
CE implementation. Due to the pandemic and the reform
process, those additional hires did not take place; they are
now planned for 2022.
Like Fund staff, the CE Specialists were not able to travel
in 2021 due to COVID-19 travel restrictions. Activity
pivoted to video and tele-conference meetings. The table
below provides a summary of activity performed by the
CE Specialists in 2021 with First Nations. In addition,
confidential sessions were held one-on-one with individuals
from communities contemplating a home loan.
CE Specialists Activity
Meetings to help
implement CE

Frequency of Meetings with First
Nations
Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

16

21

19

20

Looking to the future, the Fund anticipates travel
restrictions to remain in place well into 2022, and that
virtual meetings will continue to be utilized as an alternate
way of doing business.
The Fund had anticipated that COVID-19 may have had
an impact on the demand for housing loans and credit
enhancement, resulting in a further lag in the take-up of
CE. In 2021, the Fund provided guarantees on 82 new
loans compared to 65 in 2020. The Fund will continue to
monitor these impacts closely.
As part of the Fund’s annual review of First Nations clients,
potential impact of the pandemic on the financial strength
of First Nations governments was monitored as well. The
following were some of the areas that were monitored:
•
•
•
•
•

Declining Own Source Revenue
Lower Credit Scores
Decreases in Working Capital, and Debt Coverage Ratio.
Ability of the First Nation to obtain Government grants
to offset revenue losses.
Notes to the Financial Statements that refer to
COVID-19 impacts to First Nations government
operations.
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Based on the 2021 annual review, it was not possible
to determine an overall correlation between changes in
financial strength and COVID-19. The Fund will continue to
monitor whether COVID-19 will have a long-term negative
financial impact on First Nations communities.

performances. The 2022 SIP and Investment Strategy have
already been developed and approved in the first quarter
of 2022, and it is anticipated that new types of investments
will be purchased to complement the portfolio mix.
As at December 31, 2021, the market value of investments
in the Fund’s portfolio was $391.1 million, a slight decrease
from 2020. Since the largest portion of the Fund’s portfolio
consists of fixed income securities, expectations of future
rate hikes have diminished the overall market value of
the portfolio in the fourth quarter of 2021. Although
the weighted average yield on fixed income securities
continued to decline, from 2.14% in 2020 to 1.95%, the
addition of equities and the flexibility to sell and capture the
accumulated gains on investments have improved the rate
of return on the overall portfolio. The table below provides
a comparison of the Fund’s rate of return on various
investments since its inception.

Each year the Fund estimates the potential liability amount
for the CE guarantee. Since its inception, the Fund has
provided guarantees on a total of 461 loans under the Credit
Enhancement Facility for a guaranteed amount of $8.7 million
for 501 home units. Fortunately, the Fund has no history of
any claims paid to lenders at this point. The estimated CE
guarantee liability at the end of 2021, was $66,566.

Investment Management
In the first quarter of 2021, the Fund obtained approval of
a new Statement of Investment Policy (SIP), which allowed
the inclusion of equity investments with a target of 16% of
the total investment portfolio. On March 31, $60.9 million
in equities were purchased with proceeds from the sale of
existing fixed income securities, which resulted in a gain on
sale of $2.1 million.

As can be seen, the Fund’s return on its fixed income
investments have been steadily declining marked by a sharp
decline in 2020 following the Bank of Canada’s decision to
lower interest rates in response to COVID-19. Fortunately
for the Fund, the sharp decline in interest rates also meant
that the premium on existing bonds (purchased prior to
2020) were raised, and with the approval of the 2020 SIP,
the Fund was able to capture some of these gains through
the sale of bonds (2.47% in 2020 and 1.17% in 2021).

As the Fund’s investment strategies and portfolio mix became
more complex, a third-party consultant was hired during the
year to assist management and the Investment Committee
in developing policies and assessing investment managers’

Fixed Income

Fixed Income

Equities

Year

Yield to Maturity

Gain on Sale

Unrealized Gain
at Dec. 31

Dividends

2021

1.95%

1.17%

0.78%

2.24%

2020

2.14%

2.47%

5.53%

n/a

2019

2.92%

2018

2.94%

2017

3.02%

2016

3.18%

2015

3.34%

2014

3.46%

2013

3.55%

2012

3.62%

2011

3.68%

2010

3.71%

2009

3.51%

2008

3.80%

Prior to 2020, the Fund had
only fixed income investments
held to maturity.

Gain on Sale

Unrealized Gain
at Dec. 31

14.61%

13.49%

n/a

n/a

With the addition of equities in 2021, the Fund was able
to generate cash flow from dividends as well as sale of
equities with a return of 14.61%. The unrealized gain
on December 31, 2021 on equities remained strong at
13.49%; however, changes in market conditions such as
monetary tightening by world central banks may have a
negative impact on these gains going forward. While the
Fund can expect economic recovery from the pandemic to
continue and maintain an optimistic view toward equities,
elevated valuations leave little cushion for downside
surprises and may act to limit upside potential in 2022.
Therefore, the Fund and its investment managers will
be monitoring market developments closely as equities
holdings will be increased from 16% in 2021 to 30% in
the first quarter of 2022.

Fund Administration

IT Security
The IT Security Program at the Fund evolved considerably
over the year 2021. The IT Policy underwent a considerable
revision to align better with current best practices. The
Fund finalized implementation of recommendations from
the 2020 IT Security Assessment and begun preparation
for the 2022 IT Security Assessment. Increasing employee
awareness of IT Security issues was a large area of focus via
awareness training, phishing simulations, and reinforcement
of internal communications channels.
2022 priorities include strengthening internal IT and IT
Security capacity, investing further in the Fund’s security
information and event management (SIEM) solution, and
further integrating the IT Security Program into the GRC
function.

This section provides examples of how the organization
adapted to the COVID-19 pandemic, an update on
Information Technology security initiatives, and a list of
reports and returns filed, including the corporate tax return.

Fund Reporting

Operations During COVID-19

•

Since the start of the COVID-19 pandemic in the first
quarter of 2020, staff have been working remotely. The
2021 Business Plan had contemplated a return to office in
the second half of 2021; however, with the arrival of new
variants, this did not materialize.
Day to day communications were carried out through
emails or text messages through Microsoft (MS) Teams. In
terms of video-conferencing, there was a planned weekly
all-staff meeting and department meetings occur every
second day. Management meetings occurred regularly,
while special projects meetings were ad hoc, but occurred
multiple times per week. Staff also had a standing bi-weekly
meeting with the external IT Service provider to discuss the
IT environment. For external communications, the Fund
used Zoom to conduct video conference sessions with
Trustees, vendors, and First Nations clients.
Office protocols such as a screening questionnaire,
enforcement of mask use, reception partitions and office
signage were formalized to ensure safe social distancing
and a new vaccination policy was put in place in an effort
to keep Trustees, staff, clients, and contractors safe.

In 2021, the Fund prepared and reported the following
reports and returns in a timely manner:

•
•
•
•
•
•

Quarterly financial statements to the Funder, per the
Funding Agreement for each quarter in 2021.
Quarterly financial reports to the Federal Government
for inclusion in the Public Accounts of Canada.
Preparation and submission to the Minister of the
2022-2026 Business Plan.
Preparation and submission to the Minister of the
Annual Report for 2020.
Preparation and submission to the Funder of Quarterly
Investment Management.
Submission to the Funder of Audited Financial
Statements for 2020.
Preparation and Filing of the 2020 Tax Filings.

In 2021, the Fund filed its 2020 T3 Trust Income Tax and
Information Returns [“Returns”] showing nil taxable income
in a timely manner. The Fund has filed these Returns
showing nil taxable income for each of 2008 through 2020.
Trust Notices of Assessment and Reassessments [“Notices”]
were received from the CRA indicating that the assessed
taxable income and taxes payable were nil for each of
the thirteen years. The Notices indicate that the CRA can
reassess the return at any time within three years of the
date of the Notices if it finds an error during a review or
audit of the return. The three-year periods on the Notices
for the years 2008 through 2017 have now expired.
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FINANCIAL SNAPSH

SUMMARY OF

Financial
Results

Financial results as compared to plan are as follows:
2021 Plan
($) *

2021 Results
($)

11,011,000

17,342,472

Long-term Investments

366,028,000

372,047,188

Deferred Contributions

375,332,000

388,279,011

Investment Income ****

14,171,000

11,278,501

Administration Expenses

5,441,066

3,487,217

Capacity Development Expenses

4,000,000

1,799,856

Funds available for 2021
Capacity Development ***

4,000,000

12,435,638

19,000

(44,886)

Cash and Cash Equivalents **

Credit Enhancement Guarantee (Recovery)

* The plan figures noted above are from the approved 2021 Business Plan.
** Cash and cash equivalents include receivables from investments.
*** Budgeted CD expenditures in any given year shall be approved by the Minister responsible for CMHC as part of the annual
Business Plan.
**** Investment income includes realized gain on sale of long-term investments.

Overall, the Fund’s assets, mainly consisting of cash and cash
equivalents and long-term investments, as well as corresponding
deferred contributions, were above the planned amounts as
total actual expenses were less than planned in both 2020 and
2021.
When the 2021 Plan was approved, it was forecast that the Fund
would end the 2020 fiscal year and thus start 2021 with $370.6
million in deferred contributions; however, as 2020 investment
income exceeded expenses by $9.5 million rather than $6 million
as planned, actual beginning deferred contributions for 2021
was $374.1 million. While the 2021 Plan had contemplated
investment income to exceed expenses by $4.7 million, actual
investment income exceeded expenses by $6 million.
Although the Fund’s 2021 investment income of $11.3 million
fell below the planned figure of $14.2 million, this does not
mean that the rate of return on investments also fell short of
expectations. The planned investment income of $14.2 million
assumed that the Fund would incur $2.8 million from the sale
of existing bonds in the first quarter to purchase equities. Once
equities are purchased, it was expected that the Fund would earn
1.6% in dividend payments and incur 6.5% in capital appreciation
from regular sales transactions. As discussed earlier, the Fund
earned 2.24% in dividends while incurring 14.61% from the sale
of equities. Combined with the fact that the Fund did not incur
the level of expenses as planned and had a greater amount of
cash reserves carried over from 2020, there was no need to sell
equities for cash flow purposes.

The amount reported under the Fund’s long-term investments
include unrealized gains on equity investments as at December
31. Since these unrealized gains (i.e. unsold) are not recorded in
the Fund’s regular operations in accordance with Public Sector
Accounting Standards, these amounts were not reported in the
investment income figure above, but rather as a separate item
in deferred contributions totalling $8.2 million. As the unrealized
gain represents the difference between market value and
acquisition cost of equities, if all these equity investments were
to have been sold on December 31, 2021, investment income
would have exceeded the budgeted figure by $5.3 million.
Similar to 2020, the Fund continued to sell fixed income
investments in 2021 to take advantage of the premiums gained
on falling yields. Bonds worth $150.7 million were sold in the
first quarter, with a gain on sale of $1.04 million. However, the
rise in inflation and increasingly hawkish stance from central
banks have contributed to diminished returns on the sale of
bonds when compared to 2020.
Administration expenses were under-spent as compared to
the Plan by approximately $2 million, primarily due to underspending in professional and technical services, which included
hiring of new staff in the beginning of 2021. Due to continuation
of the COVID-19 pandemic and with the Fund reform process,
the Fund has had to reassess priorities and business opportunities
that were identified in the previous planning period.
In 2021, the majority of legal fees incurred under professional
and technical services consist of special initiatives including the
establishment of policies and agreements driven by COVID-19,
such as vaccinations, travel, and a hybrid work model. There
were also legal fees for revisions and negotiating support for the
changes to the Indenture of Trust and the Funding Agreement,
both of which were finalized on December 31, 2021.
As planned, the Fund incurred greater costs than compared to
2020 in investment management fees and computer services.
These increases from 2020 were in response to increased
activities and complexities involving the Fund’s investment
portfolio, as well as increased investment in the Fund’s IT
environment such as the addition of automated accounts
payable software and survey tools.
The 2021 Plan was also conscientious of the possibility of
extended travel restrictions, and therefore, did not plan for a
significant travel budget. The plan did anticipate a resumption
in travel for face-to-face meetings by the last quarter of 2021;
however, with new COVID-19 variants, the Fund did not

incur any travel costs or costs related to hosting face-to-face
meetings. For example, Trustee meetings and various other
conferences and events that the Fund would have attended inperson have all been held virtually at lower costs.
Capacity Development expenses were $0.5 million above the
2020 amount as the Fund, its CD providers, and First Nations
clients began to adapt to operating in the pandemic. During
2021, CD funds were used to pay for activities in 46 different
First Nations communities across Canada compared to the
same number in the prior year. While in 2020, many of the CD
expenses incurred were for online training, which tend to have
lower costs, CD expenses in 2021 were for much larger projects
such as land surveys and policy development. The number of
CD initiatives increased from 2020 from 125 to 144 in 2021.
While CD expenses were still $2.2 million below the planned
amount, these CD dollars are not lost and remain available for
capacity building initiatives in subsequent years. Based on the
2021 results, up to $13.7 million is available for CD spending
in 2022. CD expenditures in any given year shall be approved
by the Minister responsible for CMHC, as part of the annual
Business Plan.
An estimate of the Fund’s liability at December 31, 2021 on
the partial loan guarantees of approximately $7.04 million, is
$66,566. The Fund has no history of any claims paid to lenders.
As at December 31, 2021, there were 24 loans in arrears
ranging from 14 to 450 days outstanding, of which 5 loans
totaling $636,514 were in arrears for more than 121 days. By
comparison, 18 loans were in arrears at the end of 2020 ranging
from 15 to 651 days, of which 7 loans totaling $846,248 were in
arrears for more than 121 days.
A loan is in arrears until all outstanding amounts are paid in full,
even if partial payments are being made. The Fund’s estimated
liability calculation is formula-driven which, for each loan in
arrears, is based on the number of days it is in arrears and the
financial strength of the First Nation that is guaranteeing the
loan. As the liability at the end of 2021 ($66,566) was less than
that at the end of 2020 ($111,452), the difference of $44,886
was recovered in 2021 in the Statement of Operations with a
corresponding decrease to the liability account in the Statement
of Financial Position. The decrease in the 2021 liability was
in response to an improvement in the general number of
mortgages in arrears across Canada, which is one of the driving
factors in the formula, and improvement in credit ratings of
some communities with many loans in arrears. The credit
ratings and data on the general number of mortgages in arrears
are obtained from third-party sources.
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MANAGEMENT’S R

MANAGEMENT’S

Responsibility
for Financial
Reporting

For the Year Ended 2021
The First Nations Market Housing Fund management is
responsible for the integrity and objectivity of the financial
statements and related financial information presented in
this annual report. The financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles, and consequently include amounts
which are based on the best estimates and judgement of
management. The financial information contained elsewhere
in this annual report is consistent with that in the financial
statements.
The First Nations Market Housing Fund maintains appropriate
systems and related internal controls to provide reasonable
assurance that financial information is reliable, assets are
safeguarded, transactions are properly authorized and in
accordance with relevant legal documents governing the
Fund, resources are managed efficiently and economically,
and operations are carried out effectively.
The Board of Trustees, through an Audit Committee,
oversees management’s responsibilities for financial reporting
and internal control systems. The Board of Trustees, upon
the recommendation of the Audit Committee, has approved
the financial statements.
The financial statements have been audited by Ernst &
Young LLP in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
auditing standards. Ernst & Young has full access to, and
meet periodically with, the Audit Committee to discuss their
audit and related matters.

D E B O R A H TAY L O R

T R AV I S S E Y M O U R , F C PA ,
FCGA, MBA, CAFM
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FINANCIAL

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Fund’s internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

Statements
To the Trustees of
First Nations Market Housing Fund
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of First Nations
Market Housing Fund [the “Fund”], which comprise the
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021, and
the statement of operations and statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Fund as at December 31, 2021, and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards
for government not-for-profit organizations.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have
fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of management and those
charged with governance for the financial
statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards for government
not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the

preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is
responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative
but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related

disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to
continue as a going concern.
•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure, and
content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.

O T TA W A , C A N A D A
MARCH 9, 2022

C H A R T E R E D P R O F E S S I O N A L A C C O U N TA N T S
L I C E N S E D P U B L I C A C C O U N TA N T S

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout
the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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Statement of Financial Position

Statement of Operations

As at December 31

Year ended December 31
2021

2020

2021

2020

$

$

$

$

Recognition of deferred contributions related to current year operations

5,242,187

4,437,566

Total revenue

5,242,187

4,437,566

Revenue

Assets
Current
Cash and cash equivalents [note 3]
Restricted cash [note 4]
Receivables from investments
Prepaid expenses
Accounts receivable
Total current assets
Long-term investments [note 5]
Capital assets, net [note 6]

15,721,368

15,055,387

219,035

196,433

1,621,104

1,702,631

Administrative [notes 6, 7, and 9]

3,487,217

3,186,926

58,959

49,481

Capacity development [note 11]

1,799,856

1,276,015

3,276

19,149

Credit enhancement (recovery) [note 12]

17,623,742

17,023,081

372,047,188

358,104,235

194,124

227,839

389,865,054

375,355,155

Liabilities

Expenses

Total expenses
Excess of revenue over expenses for the year

(44,886)

(25,375)

5,242,187

4,437,566

—

—

See accompanying notes and schedule

Statement of Cash Flows

Current

Year ended December 31

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities [note 12]

1,456,559

1,095,336

Total current liabilities

1,456,559

1,095,336

2021

2020

66,566

111,452

$

$

—

—

Credit enhancement guarantee liability [note 12]
Capital lease obligations [note 13]

18,177

26,765

Operating activities

Deferred lease inducement [note 7]

44,741

63,513

Excess of revenue over expenses for the year

Deferred contributions [note 8, schedule]

388,279,011

374,058,089

389,865,054

375,355,155

Commitments and contingent liabilities [note 12]
See accompanying notes and schedule

Add (deduct) items not affecting cash
64,377

68,143

(18,772)

(18,773)

Realized gain on sale of long-term investments

(3,765,245)

(4,768,317)

Unrealized gain on long-term investments

(8,184,608)

—

Depreciation of capital assets
Amortization of deferred lease inducement

Foreign exchange gain
Credit enhancement (recovery)

(19)

—

(44,886)

(25,375)

426,562

(63,753)

14,220,922

9,450,366

Non-cash amortization of premiums and discounts

1,896,611

1,147,379

Cash provided by operating activities

4,594,942

5,789,670

Acquisition of capital assets

(23,328)

(24,951)

Cash used in capital activities

(23,328)

(24,951)

(287,019,429)

(230,504,051)

283,129,718

197,501,672

Net change in non-cash working capital balances related to operations [note 10]
Net increase in deferred contributions

Capital activities

Investing activities
Purchase of long-term investments
Sale of long-term investments

—

14,806,000

(3,889,711)

(18,196,379)

Principal payment under capital leases

(15,922)

(20,206)

Cash used in financing activities

(15,922)

(20,206)

Maturity of long-term investments
Cash used in investing activities

On behalf of the Trustees:

Financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash during the year

LY D I A H W I T S U M , J D
CHAIRPERSON

J E A N V I N C E N T, M S C , F C P A , F C A , C A F M
AUDIT CHAIRPERSON

665,981

(12,451,866)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

15,055,387

27,507,253

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

15,721,368

15,055,387

See accompanying notes and schedule
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Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2021
1. Nature of operations
The First Nations Market Housing Fund [the “Fund”] was
established on March 31, 2008 through an Indenture of Trust
in the Province of Ontario. The purpose of the Fund is to
facilitate the availability of financing for, and the accessible
supply of, market-based housing in First Nations communities.
The Fund also helps to create the capacity in First Nations
communities to become self-sufficient in developing and
sustaining market-based housing, thereby contributing to
the social welfare and civic improvement of First Nations
communities and their residents. An over-arching goal is to
move to a system that provides to First Nations residents
the same housing opportunities and responsibilities in their
communities as other Canadians. The Fund operates on a
not-for-profit basis. The beneficiary of the Fund is Her Majesty
the Queen in right of Canada.
The Fund’s vision statement is that “Every First Nation family
has the opportunity to have a home on their own land in a
strong community”.
•

On April 28, 2008, the Fund entered into a Funding
Agreement with Canada Mortgage and Housing
Corporation [“CMHC”], which sets out the terms and
conditions for the transfer and use of a $300 million
contribution from CMHC on behalf of the Government
of Canada to the Fund. This agreement provides
additional direction of the Fund’s not-for-profit
activities, reporting obligations, permitted use of
funding and duties of Trustees.

The Indenture of Trust and Funding Agreement were
amended and restated as at December 31, 2021.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with
the Public Sector [“PS”] Accounting Handbook including
the use of the standards for government not-for-profit
organizations that include sections PS 4200 to PS 4270,
which constitutes generally accepted accounting principles for
government not-for-profit organizations in Canada [“GAAP”].
The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of
these financial statements are summarized as follows:

Financial instruments

Minimum rating criteria – Term less than 365 days

Investment

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when
the Fund becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair
value adjusted by transaction costs. Financial instruments
are subsequently measured at cost, fair value, or amortized
cost using the effective interest rate method. Included in
financial assets are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash,
accounts receivable, receivables from investments, and longterm investments. Included in financial liabilities are accounts
payable and accrued liabilities, and capital lease obligations.
Financial instruments that are measured at fair value are
grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the
fair value is observable:
Level 1 – fair value measurements are those derived from
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities using the last bid price;
Level 2 – fair value measurements are those derived from
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
Level 3 – fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term,
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. These funds are expected to be used in operations and
normally mature within three months or less from the date of
acquisition.
Cash equivalents must be rated by at least two rating
agencies as outlined in the table below. If an issuer has
no long-term rating, one short-term rating is required for
investments with a term of less than one year. In instances
where the rating agencies’ opinions differ, the lower of the
two highest ratings available shall be used for the purpose of
determining an instrument’s eligibility for investment. The fair
value of cash equivalents is disclosed in note 3.

Canadian Governments
and their Crown Agents
All other investments

Moody’s

S&P

Fitch

DBRS

P-1(A) / A3

A-1(low) / A

A-1(low)
/A

R-1(low) /
A(low)

P-1 / Aa3

A-1 / AA-

A-1 / AA-

R-1(mid) /
AA(low)

Long-term investments
Long-term investments comprise fixed income and equity
investments held for investing purposes. Transaction date
accounting is used to record the purchase and sale of longterm investments. Premiums and discounts are amortized
to income using the effective interest rate method over
the period to maturity. Gains and losses on disposal and
impairments are recorded in income in the period incurred.
Unrealized gains and losses resulting from the difference
between acquisition cost and the fair value of long-term
investments that are subsequently measured at fair value are
recognized in deferred contributions.
Long-term investments must be rated by at least two rating
agencies as outlined in the table below. In instances where
the rating agencies’ opinions differ, the lower of the two
highest ratings available shall be used for the purpose of
determining an instrument’s eligibility for investment. The fair
value of long-term investments is disclosed in note 5.
Minimum rating criteria – Term greater than one years

Investment
Canadian Governments and
their Crown Agents
All other investments

Moody’s

S&P

Fitch

DBRS

A3

A-

A-

A(low)

Baa3

BBB-

BBB-

BBB(low)

Capital assets
Capital assets comprise furniture and equipment, leasehold
improvements made to the Fund’s office space, and intangible
properties such as software and licenses. Capital assets are
recorded at acquisition cost. Depreciation of furniture and
equipment is provided on a declining balance basis over the
assets’ estimated useful life at a rate of 20%. Depreciation
of leasehold improvements is provided on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease, which is six years. Intangible
properties are expected to be in use in perpetuity and as such
are not amortized.

Included in furniture and equipment are computer equipment
under capital leases. In case of assets under capital leases,
expected useful lives are determined by reference to
comparable owned assets or over the lease term, if shorter.

Revenue recognition
The Fund follows the deferral method of accounting for
contributions. Initial contribution and subsequent investment
income are deferred and recognized as revenue in the period
in which the related expenses are recognized.

Leases
The Fund classifies leases as operating or capital based on
the substance of the transaction at inception of the lease.
An operating lease is a lease in which a significant portion of
the risks and rewards of ownership is retained by the lessor.
Payments under an operating lease are recognized as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
Associated costs, such as maintenance and insurance, are
expensed as incurred.
Leases in which substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are transferred to the lessee are classified as
capital leases. Assets meeting capital lease criteria are
capitalized at the lower of the present value of the related
lease payments plus incidental payments or the fair value
of the leased asset at the inception of the lease. Minimum
lease payments are apportioned between the finance cost
and the liability. The finance charge is recognized in income
within administrative expenses and is allocated to each
period during the lease term so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability.

Deferred lease inducement
Deferred lease inducement comprises the unamortized
portion of the reimbursement of costs incurred by the Fund
on leasehold improvements as part of the lease extension
agreement. Lease inducements are an inseparable part of
the lease agreement, and accordingly, are accounted for as
reductions of the lease expense over the term of the lease,
which is six years.
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Credit enhancement guarantees
Under its Credit Enhancement Facility, the Fund provides
guarantees to third-party lenders and insurers that
repayment of financing arranged for housing in qualified
First Nations communities will be honored up to the limit
of the agreed upon Credit Enhancement in the event
that a First Nation fails to fulfill its responsibility for the
repayment of a loan default. The Fund’s accumulated Credit
Enhancement coverage cannot exceed the net worth of the
Fund, with the Fund defining net worth as the difference
between what the Fund owns and what it owes. As
long as the Fund remains a going concern, the deferred
contribution is not considered an amount owing by the
Fund.
The Fund’s credit enhancement guarantees are considered
to be loan guarantees and as such are accounted for and
reported as contingent liabilities. A provision for losses
on credit enhancement guarantees is made when it is
determined that a loss is likely, and is accounted for as
a liability in the statement of financial position and in
the statement of operations as an expense. The Fund’s
provision for losses on credit enhancement guarantees is
formula-driven, which for each loan in arrears, is based
on the amount in arrears, the number of days it is in
arrears and the financial strength of the First Nation that
is guaranteeing the loan. The formula is reviewed on
an annual basis. Any change in the liability relating to
the provision for losses is recorded in the statement of
operations.

Income taxes
The Fund is accounted for as an entity that, pursuant to
section 149 of the Income Tax Act (Canada) [the “Act”], is
not subject to income taxes.

Estimates are based on the best information available
at the time of financial statement preparation and are
reviewed annually to reflect new information as it becomes
available. Measurement uncertainty exists in these financial
statements. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

The following table shows the composition of cash and cash
equivalents:

Cash
Banker’s acceptances
Government of Canada treasury bills

As at December 31, 2021, the fair value of the Fund’s fixed
income portion of long-term investments was $305,535,055
[2020 – $377,653,671]. The fair value of the Fund’s longterm investments is determined by reference to published
price quotations in an active market.

Within 1 year

1 to 3 years

3 to 5 years

Over 5 years

2021

2020

$

$

$

$

$

$

2021

2020

8,897,241

—

—

—

8,897,241

4,892,517

$

$

Corporate bonds

10,047,035

32,991,414

32,258,552

55,991,858

131,288,859

110,730,089

1,501,296

1,234,976

Municipal bonds

—

2,405,074

—

10,744,253

13,149,327

18,632,104

—

3,198,112

Provincial bonds

—

9,626,547

28,401,471

53,079,062

91,107,080

171,901,896

14,220,072

10,622,299

Government of Canada bonds

1,501,477

17,755,672

10,626,010

28,857,728

58,740,887

51,947,629

15,055,387

Total

20,445,753

62,778,707

71,286,033

148,672,901

303,183,394

358,104,235

Yield

0.53%

1.71%

1.97%

2.23%

1.95%

2.14%

15,721,368

As at December 31, 2021, the fair value of the Fund’s
investments in banker’s acceptances and Government
of Canada treasury bills was $14,220,072 [2020 –
$13,820,411]. The fair value of the Fund’s cash equivalents
is determined by reference to published price quotations in
an active market.

Banker’s acceptances / treasury bills

6. Capital assets
The following tables show the composition of capital assets:
Furniture and
equipment

Leasehold
improvements

Equipment under
capital lease

Intangible
properties

Total

$

$

$

$

$

317,415

408,177

72,638

16,222

814,452

23,328

—

7,334

—

30,662

—

—

(38,595)

—

(38,595)

Cost, end of year

340,743

408,177

41,377

16,222

806,519

Accumulated depreciation,
beginning of year

223,275

315,049

48,289

—

586,613

21,161

26,622

16,594

—

64,377

—

—

(38,595)

—

(38,595)

244,436

341,671

26,288

—

612,395

96,307

66,506

15,089

16,222

194,124

Furniture and
equipment

Leasehold
improvements

Equipment under
capital lease

Intangible
properties

Total

$

$

$

$

$

308,686

408,177

72,638

—

789,501

8,729

—

—

16,222

24,951

Cost, end of year

317,415

408,177

72,638

16,222

814,452

Accumulated depreciation,
beginning of year

200,831

288,427

29,212

—

518,470

22,444

26,622

19,077

—

68,143

223,275

315,049

48,289

—

586,613

94,140

93,128

24,349

16,222

227,839

2021
Cost, beginning of year

4. Restricted cash

Additions

The amount recorded as restricted cash of $219,035 [2020
– $196,433] is in reference to an escrow account established
by the Trustees in 2018. The establishment of this escrow
account is a condition of employment arrangements and
secures the obligations of the Fund.

Dispositions

Depreciation
Dispositions

5. Long-term investments

Accumulated deprecation, end of year
Net book value

The following table shows the composition of long-term
investments:
2021

2020

$

$

Measured at amortized cost
Fixed income

investments, which are measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest rate method.

The following table shows the contractual maturity structure
and average yield for the fixed income portion of long-term

3. Cash and cash equivalents

Measurement uncertainty
The preparation of these financial statements requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of the
revenues and expenses during the year. Items requiring the
use of significant estimates include the credit enhancement
guarantee liability as well as commitments and contingent
liabilities.

Long-term investments that are subsequently measured at
fair value are grouped into Level 1 at December 31, 2021.
There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 for
the year ended December 31, 2021. There were also no
transfers in or out of Level 3.

2020
Cost, beginning of year
Additions

303,183,394

358,104,235

68,863,794

—

372,047,188

358,104,235

Measured at fair value
Equities

Depreciation
Accumulated deprecation,
end of year
Net book value
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Depreciation expense is included in administrative expenses
in the statement of operations. Included in intangibles
properties are costs to obtain SIEMS (security information
and event management system).

7. Deferred lease inducement
The Fund received $105,751 in 2018 from the lessor of its
office space as reimbursement of a portion of the leasehold
improvement costs pursuant to the 2018 lease extension
agreement. This amount is deferred and amortized on a
straight-line basis as a reduction to rental expenses over
the term of the lease, which is six years. Reduction to rental
expenses was $18,772 [2020 – $18,773].

8. Capital management
The Fund includes deferred contributions in the definition
of capital. As at December 31, 2021, the deferred
contributions were $388,279,011 [2020 – $374,058,089].
These contributions were primarily invested in long-term
investments, with the balance being held in cash and cash
equivalents to meet short-term operating requirements.
The Fund’s objectives when managing capital are to
minimize volatility of expected investment results and cash
flows in order to earn sufficient returns so that the Fund
can fulfill its objectives, maintain sufficient liquidity to meet
business requirements as they arise and to preserve capital.
The deferred contributions comprise the initial contribution
of $300 million from the Funder along with any investment
income net of any expenses incurred by the Fund. The
Indenture of Trust requires that any income, gains and
accretions, after expenses, shall be added to this initial
contribution and be devoted exclusively to the objectives
of the Fund. The Indenture of Trust also requires that the
Fund’s contingent and actual obligations under the credit
enhancement facility not exceed the net worth of the
Fund, with the Fund defining net worth as the difference
between what the Fund owns and what it owes. The Fund
is in compliance with these conditions as set out in the
Indenture of Trust. The unrealized gains portion of deferred
contributions represent fluctuations in the fair value of the
Fund’s equity investments from one year to another.
Although the significant reduction Bank of Canada’s
interest rates in response to COVID-19 has negatively
impacted the Fund’s return on fixed income investments

purchased during the year, the implementation of an
actively managed portfolio including equities has allowed
the Fund to realize significant gains from sale of existing
fixed income and equity investments. Management and
Trustees continue to pursue alternative solutions to meet
the target rate of return.

9. Administrative expenses

2021

2020

$

$

2,793,615

2,464,105

1,546

35,458

Trustee governance [b]

116,526

152,299

Business premises [c]

276,159

275,284

Computer and telecommunications

161,159

150,219

Other [d]

138,212

109,561

3,487,217

3,186,926

Travel

[a] Professional and technical services include the following
services: all staff [salaries and fringe benefits], investment
management, legal, audit, banking, custodial, insurance,
consulting and other miscellaneous services.
[b] Trustee governance includes honoraria and travel
expenses for up to nine Trustees.
[c] Business premises mainly include office rental expenses
and utilities.

12. Commitments and contingent liabilities
Commitments

The net change in non-cash working capital balances related
to operations consists of the following:
2021

2020

$

$

(22,602)

(18,051)

Decrease (increase) in
receivables from investments

81,546

(44,954)

(Increase) decrease in
prepaid expenses

(9,478)

9,801

Decrease in accounts receivable

15,873

2,403

361,223

(12,952)

426,562

(63,753)

Increase in restricted cash

The following table presents the composition of
administrative expenses.

Professional and technical services [a]

10. Statement of cash flows

Increase (decrease) in accounts
payable and accrued liabilities

11. Capacity development
The maximum amount available for capacity development
in any given year shall not exceed 50% of the preceding
period’s net income. For purposes of determining the
amount of capacity development available, the Fund
defines net income as investment and other income less
any expenses incurred during the year. Any unexpended
amounts at the end of the year can be carried forward to be
spent in subsequent years.
Changes in funds available for capacity development
are as follows:

Balance, beginning of year

2021

2020

$

$

7,710,455

6,076,991

4,725,183

2,909,479

12,435,638

8,986,470

1,799,856

1,276,015

10,635,782

7,710,455

3,018,148

4,725,183

13,653,930

12,435,638

Add
Allocations during the year [50% of
prior year’s net income]

[d] Other expenses mainly include marketing and promotion,
depreciation of furniture and equipment, office
supplies, postage and courier, contingencies, and Fund
development.

Less

The 2020 investment management fees and out-of-pocket
costs related to CMHC as discussed in note 14 are primarily
included within the “Professional and technical services”
account listed above. CMHC’s role as investment manager
ceased effective June 30, 2020.

Add

Funds expensed towards capacity
development
Balance, end of year, before
additional allocation

Allocations for subsequent year [50%
of current year’s net income]
Balance, available in subsequent
year

The Fund leases office premises and certain computer
equipment under long-term operating leases expiring up to
July 31, 2024. Future minimum annual lease payments for
the office premises over the next three years are as follows
[see note 13 for computer equipment lease commitments]:
$
2022

109,857

2023

111,897

2024

65,273
287,027

As at December 31, 2021, the Fund had entered into
contracts with suppliers to provide capacity development
services. The work performed by these suppliers to
December 31, 2021 but not yet paid by the Fund of
$294,940 [2020 – $209,846] is included in accounts payable
and accrued liabilities. The balance owing on these contracts
for work that was not yet performed as at December 31,
2021 is approximately $1,407,000 [2020 – $1,514,000].

Credit enhancement guarantee
As at December 31, 2021, the Fund has approved maximum
housing loan guarantee credit to First Nation communities
of $1 billion [2020 – $992 million] based on an estimated
7,004 units [2020 – 6,770].
Since its inception, the Fund has provided guarantees on a
total of 461 loans [2020 – 379] for 501 units [2020 – 419],
including both single and multiunit rental properties,
under the Credit Enhancement Facility for a maximum
guaranteed amount of $8,744,928 [2020 – $7,124,826].
The amortization period of the loans ranges from 6 to
25 years. The First Nations have indemnified the Fund for
any amounts that may be paid by the Fund to the lender
under the Credit Enhancement Facility. As at December 31,
2021, the maximum guaranteed amount outstanding was
$7,042,919 [2020 – $6,044,831].
An estimate of the Fund’s liability on the guaranteed
amount of $7,042,919 in place at December 31, 2021
[2020 – $6,044,831] is $66,566 [2020 – $111,452]. The
Fund has no history of any claims paid to lenders at this
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point. As at December 31, 2021, there were 24 loans in
arrears [2020 – 18 loans]. The outstanding amounts of
loans in arrears total $3,609,877 [2020 – $2,610,442] and
range from 14 to 450 days in arrears [2020 – 15 to 651
days]. Of the total outstanding loans in arrears, five [2020
– seven] loans for a total of $636,514 [2020 – $846,248]
were in arrears for more than 121 days. As the liability
established at the end of 2021 was $66,566, which is
less than the estimated liability at the end of 2020 of
$111,452, the difference of $44,886 was recovered in 2021
[2020 – recovery of $25,375] in the statement of operations
with a corresponding decrease to the liability account in the
2021 statement of financial position.

will end in February 2027. The Fund also leases personal
computers on a three-year term, which will end in
November 2022. Future minimum annual lease payments
over the next five years are as follows:
$
2022

12,619

2023

1,563

2024

1,563

2025

1,563

2026

1,563

Total minimum lease payments

18,871

Less amounts representing interest

Income taxes
The Fund had discussions with the Rulings Directorate
[“CRA Rulings”] of the Canada Revenue Agency [“CRA”]
about its non-taxable status. At the conclusion of the most
recent round of discussions in 2009, CRA Rulings was not
prepared to support the Fund’s position that it is non-taxable
pursuant to subsection 149(1) of the Act.
The Fund has filed T3 Trust Income Tax and Information
Returns showing nil taxable income for each of 2008
– 2020. Trust Notices of Assessment and Reassessment
[“Notices”] were received from the CRA indicating that the
assessed taxable income and taxes payable were nil for each
of these 13 years. The Notices indicate that the CRA can
reassess the return at any time within three years of the date
of the Notices if it finds an error during a review or audit of
the return. The three-year time periods on the Notices for
the years 2008 – 2017 have now expired. The 2018 Notice
was dated May 23, 2019, the 2019 Notice was dated July 8,
2020, and the 2020 Notice was dated June 16, 2021.
The Fund plans to pursue all available avenues to support
its position with the CRA, and the courts, if necessary, to
ultimately determine that the Fund is exempt from Part I
tax under the Act. Should it ultimately be determined that
the Fund is subject to income tax, any income taxes owing
since 2018 by the Fund would be approximately $4,314,000
[2020 − $4,336,000].

13. Capital lease obligations
The Fund leases certain computer and office equipment
under long-term leases, which have been capitalized.
The Fund leases printers on a sixty-six-month term, which

Present value of net minimum
capital lease payments

The Fund limits its exposure to various market risks through
its diversification strategy and asset allocation within its
actively managed investment portfolio in accordance with
the Fund’s Statement of Investment Policy and Investment
Strategy, governed by the Minister of Finance Investment
Management Framework for Up-front Funding.
Change in interest rate
Change in market value

The following tables illustrate the potential impact on the
market values of the Fund’s long-term investments from
reasonable changes in interest rate and market prices as at
December 31, 2021.

-1%

-0.5%

-0.25%

(14,498,542)

(7,249,271)

(3,624,635)

0.25%
3,624,635

S&P/TSX
Change in market price

0.5%

1%

7,249,271

14,498,542

World Markets

-5%

5%

-5%

5%

(3,060,287)

3,060,287

(1,525,924)

1,525,924

694
18,177

Total interest on leases for the year was $811 [2020 –
$1,977].

14. Related party transactions
The Fund is related to the Government of Canada through
the Funding Agreement, which provided the $300 million
contribution by CMHC in 2008 as agent of and on behalf
of the Government of Canada. The net equity of the Fund
is consolidated annually with the financial results of the
Government of Canada in the Public Accounts.
Any payments to CMHC are made in the normal course of
business, measured at the exchange amount and are made
in accordance with the terms of the Funding arrangement.
In 2021, the Fund did not incur any related party
transactions. Up to July of 2020, the Fund purchased
$154,483 from CMHC related to various 2020 management
fees and reimbursed CMHC for $77,560 in out-of-pocket
costs. As at December 31, 2021, the Fund did not have any
amounts owing to CMHC [2020 – nil].

15. Financial instruments and risk management
Market risk
Market risk is the risk of adverse financial impact,
encompassing fluctuations in the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument, arising from changes in
underlying market factors, including currency risk, interest
rate risk and other price risk.

Change in market value

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss arising from counterparty’s
inability to fulfill its contractual obligations. Credit risk
includes the risk of default, and encompasses both the
probability of loss and the probable size of the loss, net of
recoveries and collateral, over time.

The Fund has a cash flow planning process in place to
ensure sufficient resources meet current and projected
cash requirements. Liquidity sources include cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, investment income and the
sale and maturity of long-term investments.

The Fund’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair
value of its fixed income investments and various accounts
receivable as well as Fund’s guarantee of loans under the
Credit Enhancement Facility. It is management’s opinion that
the Fund is not exposed to significant credit risks arising from
these financial instruments. The Fund’s credit risk associated
with investments is managed through the implementation of
policies, which includes limits to the permitted investments
and minimum credit ratings. These credit ratings are described
in note 2. As at December 31, 2021, virtually all investments
held by the Fund were issued by the Government of Canada,
a province, a municipality, a national bank, or a Canadian
corporation. The Fund’s credit risk associated with guarantee
of loans under the Credit Enhancement Facility is mitigated
through annual reviews of First Nations communities’ financial
strength and ongoing communication with community
leaders to ensure that the First Nations communities continue
to be in compliance with terms and conditions of Credit
Enhancement Facility agreements.

16. COVID-19

Liquidity risk

The outbreak of COVID-19 has resulted in governments
worldwide enacting emergency measures to combat the
spread of the virus. These measures, which include the
implementation of travel bans, self-imposed quarantine
periods and social distancing, have caused material
disruption to business globally, resulting in an economic
shutdown. As a result, the Fund experienced a significant
reduction in travel expenses, capacity development
expenses, and a decrease in yield to maturity of its fixed
income investments. The duration of the impact of the
COVID-19 outbreak is unknown at this time, as is the
efficacy of the government and central bank monetary
and fiscal interventions designed to stabilize economic
conditions. Should unfavorable economic conditions
continue, the Fund may see an increase in the potential for
payout of the credit enhancement guarantees; however, at
this point, it is not possible to reliably estimate the length
and severity of these developments, nor the impact on the
financial position and financial results of the Fund.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund would have
insufficient cash flows to meet its obligations associated
with financial liabilities.
F N M H F 2021

|

Annual Report

73

Year ended December 31
2021

2020

$

$

374,058,089

364,607,723

Investment income

7,513,237

9,119,615

Realized gain on sale of long-term investments

3,765,245

4,768,317

19

—

Deferred contributions, beginning of year

Foreign exchange gain

(5,242,187)

(4,437,566)

380,094,403

374,058,089

—

—

8,661,082

—

100

—

Amounts reclassified to realized gain on sale of long-term investments

(476,574)

—

Net unrealized gains, end of year

8,184,608

—

388,279,011

374,058,089

Recognized as revenue to match expenses
Unrealized gains, beginning of year
Unrealized gains attributable to:
Equity portion of long-term investments
Foreign exchange

Deferred contributions, end of year

GOVERNANCE

Governance

Schedule of Changes in Deferred
Contributions

The Fund was established through an Indenture
of Trust on March 26, 2008 between CMHC and
Trustees. The governance, management, and
operations of the Fund are in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the Fund’s enabling
documents. These documents include an Indenture
of Trust and a Funding Agreement with CMHC. The
documents were designed to protect both the Fund’s
federal funding and the parameters put in place for
the administration of the funding over the long term.
The Fund received a one-time contribution of $300
million from the Government of Canada. Interest
earned from investing the contribution is used to pay
for the Fund’s administration costs and its Capacity
Development Program. The Fund is self-sustaining
through the investment of the Government of
Canada’s capital contribution and the reinvestment of
a portion of its revenues.
The Indenture of Trust and Funding Agreement
were revised and restated effective December 31,
2021. The changes represent a significant step
towards greater independence, in addition to
incorporating improvements for operations. The
changes also formally recognized the cessation of the
Management Agreement with CMHC, which was
viewed as defunct by the Trustees for many years.
Nine First Nations Trustees are drawn from the First
Nations community, the federal public sector in
Canada community, and the private-sector financial
community provide oversight to the Fund. The
Minister for CMHC appoints six Trustees and the
Minister for ISC appoints three Trustees. The Minister
for CMHC appoints the Chairperson and the Vicechairperson. One Trustee appointment is currently
outstanding with the term having reached its end.
Due to pandemic related travel restrictions,
the Trustees held all meetings virtually via a
videoconference platform in 2021. All Committee
meetings were also conducted virtually via
videoconference.

Information is provided below regarding Trustee and
Committee meetings held in 2021:

Meetings

Number of
Members

Number
of Planned
Meetings

Number
of Actual
Meetings

Trustees

9

6

6

Audit
Committee

4

4

5

Investment
Committee

3

4

6

Governance
Committee

4

5

6

Human
Resources
Committee

4

2

5

Operations
Committee

4

5

5

Actual expenses incurred during the year for Trustee
governance are as follows:
Expense

2021 ($)

Honoraria

115,000

Travel

—

Total

115,000
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A SPECIAL TRIBUTE TO JOHN BEAUCAGE
A SPECIAL

John Beaucage has been a steadfast leader at the Fund since its inception in 2008
and has contributed to countless milestones. At the end of 2021, John retired from
his position as a Trustee and will be sorely missed by the Trustees and staff. It is only
fitting that the Fund look back at John’s contributions.

Tribute to
John Beaucage

2008

John was named
the first Chairperson of the Trustees
and served in this
role until mid 2020.

As the Fund officially opened
its doors for business on May 5,
2008, John tirelessly set about
working with the Board to set an
ambitious plan to lay the Fund’s
foundation. The Fund represented
a new way of thinking about
on-reserve housing in Canada. It
is not a typical delivery program;
rather it acts as a foundation to
support arrangements and works
in addition to what already exists.
As John has said many times,
“good housing for First Nations
families isn’t just built on a
foundation – it IS the foundation
that contributes to the health
and self-sufficiency of community
members.” In this inauguration
year, the Fund built momentum
through the approval of the first
First Nation to be eligible for the
Fund’s Credit Enhancement Facility
and the participation of three
lender partners.

2 00 8

2009

2010

This event impacted lending
activities as lender attention
was focussed elsewhere. First
Nations whose community
members depended on the
resource sector for employment
were affected by depressed
prices and associated layoffs.
Despite this setback, the Board
persevered and welcomed the
approval of additional First
Nations to receive the Fund’s
backing and/or capacity building
support. Two more financial
institutions became lender
partners. 2008 and 2009 were
operational periods including
putting in place governance
structures and administrative
efficiencies. As part of that
effort, John led the Trustees
first annual strategic planning
session to consider future
directions and how best to get
there. “While we have evidence
that the Fund is viewed by many
as the right choice, it takes time
for a First Nation government –
as any government – to make
an informed decision.” – John
Beaucage

for the Fund’s backing and/or
capacity building support, plus
one more financial institution
joined as a lending partner.
With the Canadian economy
continuing to strengthen during
the second quarter, the Fund was
able to demonstrate tangible
benefits gained for First Nations
backed by the Fund with the
emergence of lower interest rates
being offered in some instances.
John is a strong believer that
increasing competition among
the lenders results in better
conditions for First Nations.
In 2010, the Fund’s Capacity
Development Program grew
as the Trustees and staff were
determined to do whatever
possible to accommodate
the identified needs of First
Nations communities related to
fostering an environment where
market/loan-based housing
can flourish.“Leadership, staff
and members are excited at
the possibilities that emerge
when individuals are enabled to
contribute to the strengthening
of their communities.”
– John Beaucage

In 2009, the
international
financial
crisis was in
full swing.

2009

Seven additional
First Nations
were approved

2010

2011

2012

“2011 has been about growth
and evolution and moving in a
direction to make a difference for
our people. The Fund is steadfast
in its vision and is determined to
ensure that there are more and
more healthy and strong families
that are self-sufficient and
living in prosperous sustainable
communities. We want parents
to have the opportunity to raise
their children in a comfortable
and safe environment that they
can call their own.”
– John Beaucage

As 2012 unfolded, the
momentum the Fund enjoyed
in 2011 moved into regions
where the Fund previously
had limited or no activity
in communities, solidifying
the Fund’s reach across the
country. “We are confident
in homeownership playing
a major role in achieving
financial wealth to secure First
Nations’ collective future and
that of the next generation.”
– John Beaucage

2011 marked the
first individual
receiving a
Fund-backed
loan.
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A SPECIAL TRIBUTE TO JOHN BEAUCAGE
2013

After five years
of building
relationships and
forming partnerships
with First Nations,

the Fund began to see the fruit
of its labour. 2013 was a record
year both for providing credit
enhancement to support the
construction and renovations
of homes and for First Nations
applying to partner with the Fund.
In the spring of 2013, the Fund
celebrated having its 100th First
Nations community as a partner
and by the end of the year 118
First Nations had applied to work
with the Fund since it started
in 2008.“Backed by results like
these, we feel proud that in 2013,
many of our partners have been
vocal in supporting the Fund for
the opportunities afforded to First
Nations. During the Assembly of
First Nations’ June 2013 Annual
General Assembly in Whitehorse,
the Chiefs-in-Assembly
acknowledged the important role
the Fund plays when they passed
Resolution #16 supporting the
concept of the Fund and pledging
to work with us to improve all
aspects of the housing fund going
forward. Through this continued
support the Fund’s brand
recognition has grown, making
the Fund a preferred housing
partner with First Nations.”

2014

“I want to
thank my fellow
Trustees

who have continued to serve in
governing this fine institution.
Their unwavering dedication
and commitment in the face
of many diversions has been
inspiring. We are all driven by
our passion to see communities
become stronger and to see more
homes on the ground; they are so
desperately needed and desired.”
– John Beaucage
“While our primary goal
is to back more homes in
communities, we have witnessed
the value of our capacity
development funding and what
we have been able to support
as we go across the country.
The urgent housing challenges
communities face cannot be fixed
with buildings alone. You need
those who are skilled to plan,
design and maintain homes in
health communities with strong,
stable leadership, professionally
trained administrators, and
well-informed citizens. You
need codes, policies, by-laws,
and laws – all the pieces of good
governance. You need citizens
to make well-informed decisions
with housing options before
them.” – John Beaucage

2015

2016

2017

2018

A home is where you feel
secure, where you escape
life’s pressures, where you
raise your family and watch
your children formulate
and realize their dreams. A
home is about opportunity.
It’s about commitment and
pride of place. For the many
successful First Nations
communities that have lifted
the local standards of living
and create jobs for their
community, a home is about
hope.” – John Beaucage

launched by Canada
Mortgage and Housing
Corporation which was
bursting with innovative
ideas. This consultation, with
tables specifically focussed
on First Nations housing, is
of vital importance because it
will inform Canada’s National
Housing Strategy which
is expected to provide the
basis for more prosperous
communities. As someone
who has spent many years
working to improve the lives
of Indigenous youth, I see
how having a decent roof
over one’s head makes a
difference in the quality of
life of communities. The time
is right for change building
on the work that we did in
creating the historic Kelowna
Accord – the Accord that led
to the creation of this Fund.”
– John Beaucage

The home – a stable place to
raise a family and, through
ownership, a means to
increasing wealth and economic
security – is where reconciliation
will have its greatest impact.”
– John Beaucage

The Fund initiated a series
of regional engagement
sessions to secure First Nations’
leadership and participants’
input in the Fund’s approach for
ensuring that market/loan based
homeownership and the Fund
are part of the ongoing reform
of federal housing relative to
First Nations.

“The concept
of home is about
so much more
than bricks and
mortar.

“In the fall, the
Vice-Chair and I
were pleased to
personally engage
in the “Let’s
Talk Housing”
consultation

“Social and
economic
reconciliation
go hand in
hand.

“Input received from the
sessions will guide the Trustees
and staff in considering new
approaches to reform and
strengthen the governance and
service delivery approaches of
the Fund. Input will also build
on the Fund’s partnerships
with over a third of First
Nations across the country
to move toward a long-term
approach that will support
First Nations care, control and
management of housing and
infrastructure and address
the needs of First Nations
people living both on and off
reserve. In particular, the Fund
has shared perspectives with
the Government of Canada
on increasing First Nations
participation in the governance
of an independent, yet
accountable Fund committed to
market-based housing.”
– John Beaucage
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2014

2015

2016

2018 marked
the 10th
anniversary
of the Fund.
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A SPECIAL TRIBUTE TO JOHN BEAUCAGE
2018
In Fall 2018, the Government
of Canada initiated a Notice of
Opportunity to seek qualified
individuals for appointment
as Trustees to the Fund. The
remaining six founding Trustees
were instrumental in securing
a commitment from the
Government that all incoming
Trustees be First Nations citizens.
They also developed the criteria
calling for Trustees that are
solution driven visionaries with
credentials and competencies in
First Nations housing, finance
and investment, governance,
and organizational development.
“Acting on the Trustees’
recommendation, the
Government of Canada enacted
a significant governance change
that ensures the Fund’s Board
of Trustees will now be totally
composed of First Nations
citizens. We believe this is one
step toward First Nations care
and control of the Fund, as
contemplated in the Indenture
of Trust, and represents a
milestone in the on-going
pursuit for real Indigenous selfgovernance.”
– John Beaucage

2019

In 2019, the
remaining founding
Board members
welcomed three
new Trustees.

“The new Trustees will build on the
outgoing Trustees’ work and with
First Nations across Canada rebuild
a housing legacy which includes
strong governance and financial
management anchoring more and
more successful communities.”
– John Beaucage
“The power of market housing
is still in its early stages in many
First Nations communities across
Canada. However, our work is
having a real impact and these
partnerships cap a very successful
year for the Fund. In addition
to approving almost $1 billion
in credit, the Fund’s Capacity
Development Program has helped
strengthen the governance
framework of partnering First
Nations with proven outcomes
to sustain market-based housing
programs. Without an established
governance framework that
includes laws, policies, codes,
and practices that are clear, well
understood and implemented by
qualified people, the system will
flounder.” – John Beaucage

2019
a stronger public service and an
emerging middle-class anxious
to control their own destiny.”
– John Beaucage
“Enabling self-sufficiency and
wealth creation is at the core
of reconciliation. Every single
person in Canada deserves
a real and fair chance at
success – and that must include
Indigenous people.”
– John Beaucage
“It has been rewarding to see
the notion of market-based
housing take root in our
communities. I am very proud
of the work of the founding
Trustees, the Fund’s capable
and committed staff and the
increasing numbers of people
committing to market-based
housing. I look forward to the
next stage of our collective
journey.” – John Beaucage

2020

2021

As Chair of the Investment
Committee, John oversaw the
pursuit of this achievement,
which also included
implementing new investment
management.

In the pursuit of getting more
homes on the ground, the Fund
leveraged over $1 billion in
potential credit for just over an
estimated 7,000 housing loans.
Already over 500 Fund-backed
loans are in place.

After many years
of pursuing the
required approval
to diversify the
Fund’s investments,
the Fund succeeded.

In 2020, the Fund welcomed a
full complement of nine Trustees
as set out in the Indenture of
Trust. In addition to the three
new Trustees who had joined
the Board in 2019, five more
Trustees were onboarded in July
2020 to join the reappointed
founding Trustee, John
Beaucage. John stepped aside as
Chair of the Board and warmly
welcomed Lydia Hwitsum as the
new Chair of the Board.
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As Chair of the Investment
Committee, John championed
an expansion of the Fund’s
Statement of Investment
Policy to facilitate greater
diversification and opportunities
to increase revenues for Fund
over the long term. 2021
also saw the modernization
and revisions of the Fund’s
foundation agreements effective
December 31, 2021, including
the formal recognition of the
cessation of the Management
Agreement with CMHC. As
former Chair of the Trustees,
John had long pursued changes
to the Indenture of Trust and
Funding Agreement with the
CMHC Minister and CMHC, as
Funder. These changes represent
a significant step towards
greater independence for the
Fund and are part of John’s
legacy.

“The founding Board’s work
provides a game changing
platform for our people to own
a home in their community. The
new Board is thankful for the
collective wisdom, hard work,
and dedication of the founding
Trustees and is committed
to building on the Fund’s
achievements.” – Lydia Hwitsum,
JD, Chairperson of the Board of
Trustees

“A home is where you raise your
family, formulate and realize your
dreams, and through ownership,
forge a path to wealth and financial
stability. The Fund is also stimulating
community building-blocks by
promoting financial literacy and
systems that sustain homeowners.
Its outcomes are a better standard
of living for Indigenous Canadians,

2018

John’s final year
as a Trustee
culminated in
several milestones
for the Fund.

2019

2020
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BOARD OF TRUSTEE

BOARD OF

COMMITTEE

Trustees

Members

Three Trustees joined the Board in October 2019. Five Trustees
joined in July 2020 together with the reappointed founding
Trustee, John Beaucage. John resigned effective December
31, 2021. The biographies of each Trustee may be found on
the Fund’s website: www.fnmhf.ca

Audit Committee
Jean Vincent, Chairperson
Stacy McNeil
Michael Rice
Errol Wilson

Chief Lydia Hwitsum, JD

Peter Dinsdale

Michael Rice

CHAIRPERSON

VICE-CHAIRPERSON

TRUSTEE

(B.C.) Cowichan Nation

(Ontario) Curve Lake First Nation

(Quebec) Mohawks of Kahnawà:ke

Governance Committee
Chief Sidney Peters, Chairperson
John Beaucage
Kathleen BlueSky
Peter Dinsdale

Human Resources Committee

John Beaucage

Kathleen BlueSky

Jean Vincent

TRUSTEE

TRUSTEE

TRUSTEE

(Ontario) Wasauksing First Nation

(Manitoba) Nisichawayasihk Cree Nation

(Quebec) Huron-Wendat Nation

Peter Dinsdale, Chairperson
Kathleen BlueSky
Stacy McNeil
Chief Sidney Peters

Investment Committee
John Beaucage, Chairperson
Jean Vincent
Errol Wilson

Operations Committee
Stacy McNeil

Chief Sidney Peters

Errol Wilson

TRUSTEE

TRUSTEE

TRUSTEE

(B.C.) Seabird Island Band

(Nova Scotia) Glooscap First Nation

(Alberta) Peguis First Nation

Kathleen BlueSky, Chairperson
Chief Sidney Peters
Michael Rice
Errol Wilson
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FUND

Staff
Deborah Taylor,
Executive Director

Travis Seymour,
Director, Finance and Administration

Ruth Deatcher,
Director, Programs

Jan Edmison,
Senior Business Analyst /
Corporate Secretary

Mike Britton,
Senior Financial Analyst-IT

Carl Kanjilal,
Senior Financial Analyst-Investments

Tae Kim,
Senior Financial Analyst-Accounting

Jason Haskett,
Senior Program Officer

Lucille Michaud,
Senior Program Officer

Nancy Pine,
Senior Program Officer

Almaz Kifleyesus,
Financial Analyst

Tracy Tarnowski,
Advisor, Business Processes

Crystal Garrow,
Administrator

C O N G R AT U L AT I O N S

Travis Seymour
– CPA Fellowship
CPAs are known for their high ethical standards, strategic
insights, and the capacity to identify solutions to complex
issues in today’s business world. Each year, CPA Ontario
honours select members who exemplify theses attributes
with the distinction of Fellow (FCPA). This year, the Fund’s
Director of Finance and Administration, Travis Seymour, was
so honoured.

“Travis has been with the Fund since
August 2018, serving as the Director
of Finance and Administration. In my
capacities as former Chair of the Fund’s
Board of Trustees, and as current Chair
of the Fund’s Investment Committee,
I have seen firsthand, many examples
of Travis’ strong leadership and solid
performance. He is a valued member
of the Fund’s management team.”
– JOHN BEAUCAGE

Over the past three years, Travis has led his team of
professionals to deliver excellent results. His high calibre
of work is evident in the financial reports presented
each quarter and clean audit opinions each year, as
well as updated investment policies and strategies,
strong relationships with new investment managers,
improvements to information technology systems, including
cybersecurity, and the groundwork for improved risk
management practices.
Travis’ work reflects his lived experiences, including having
grown up in a First Nation. Travis’ experience working for
a First Nations local government (the Mohawk Council
of Akwesasne) and his experience as Senior Manager
of Indigenous Consulting have been invaluable given
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the Fund’s client base is First Nations governments
across Canada. Travis has worked at strengthening
the financial management of many First Nations
governments through his review of their policies and
practices and capacity development needs.

“During my tenure as Chair of the
Fund, the Board endorsed Travis’
participation in the formal review
of potential accounting standards
changes which would affect both First
Nations and Indigenous organizations
as we valued his experience and his
enthusiasm to share on a stage that
could positively affect many.”
– JOHN BEAUCAGE

As a member of the management team, Travis
demonstrates his belief in continuous professional
development, leading by example. He is working
towards his Certified Internal Audit designation and is
enrolled in language classes to become fluent in French
and Mohawk. Travis has encouraged and supported his
staff to enroll in advanced education classes across a
broad array of topics, including languages, First Nations
financial management, new accounting standards,
and specialized areas such as information technology
and COSO internal controls. It is clear that Travis
believes in developing staff so that the Fund can be
prepared for new and more complex challenges
in the future.
We offer our sincere congratulations to Travis in
earning this highest honour!

OUR

National

Lending
Partners

Saskatchewan

The Fund is pleased to announce
a new lending partner Bulkley Valley Credit Union.

“Bulkley Valley Credit

Union is located
in beautiful Northern
British Columbia.

Our head office is situated on the
unceded territory of the Wetʼsuwetʼen
First Nation. Bulkley Valley Credit
Union turned 80 years young in
2021 and remains committed to our
Mission Statement of: Building Healthy,
Sustainable Communities. Our new
partnership with the First Nations
Market Housing Fund is just one
example on how we intend to achieve
this commitment”.

Ontario

British Columbia

Carlee Morsund,
Chief Lending Officer
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HOW THE FUND WO

HOW THE

Fund Works

The First Nations Market Housing Fund is a selfsustaining independent and not-for-profit Trust with
two clear goals:
•

•

To facilitate the availability of private-sector
financing for First Nations while helping to ensure
an accessible supply of market- or loan-based
housing in First Nations communities; and
To increase the capacity of First Nations seeking to
expand or develop market- or loan-based housing.
The Fund builds on the successes of innovative
communities. It is strictly optional. It does not
replace any existing programs. Instead, the Fund
works in tandem with existing programs to expand
market housing on reserve.

What is Market- or Loan-Based Housing?
Market- or loan-based housing is a broad term that
encompasses private homeownership, rentals, and
rent-to-own housing. Simply put, it means the owners
and occupants pay for the cost of their housing either
through rental or loan payments. Market- or loanbased housing provides First Nations with a powerful
means to invest in their communities and gives First
Nations families the ability to invest in their futures
by building personal wealth in their homes. It also
contributes to the sustainability of existing programs
by providing another option and allowing funds to be
targeted to where they are needed most.

How Does the Fund Accomplish This?
The Fund qualifies a First Nation and provides partial
financial backing to approved lenders for housing
loan guarantees made by the First Nation to financial
institutions. The First Nation then uses this backing to
negotiate an arrangement with an approved lender
or lenders so their members can apply directly to the
lender(s) for financing. The financing will help build,
buy, or renovate a home on reserve or settlement lands
where appropriate, to either own or rent. Due to the
communal nature of the land, the First Nation needs to
guarantee the housing loans of its members.

Should the First Nation not honour its obligation as
guarantor, the lender will be able to turn to the Fund for
compensation up to the amount of Credit Enhancement
accumulated by the lender for loans made in the community.
The Fund itself does not provide loans.

Access Criteria
Access criteria are based on principles, not rules. The criteria
are separated into three pillars:

The Fund:
Supports Arrangements Between First Nations and
Lenders
The Fund has created an alternative form of security
for housing loans made on reserve or settlement lands
which will attract lenders and provide First Nations
leverage to negotiate more favourable interest rates,
risk-sharing agreements, reduced program access fees,
and administrative arrangements. In this way, First
Nations residents will have the same housing choices and
opportunities on communally held lands – be they reserve,
settlement, or lands set aside – as mainstream Canadians
have in their communities.

Good
Governance

Financial
Management

Respects the Communal Nature of Reserve Land
Off reserve, lenders take land as security in exchange for
housing loans. On reserve, land is held by the Crown for
the benefit of the First Nations’ members, therefore it is
often considered communal. Because lenders cannot use
communal land as security, this has made it more difficult
for First Nations members to obtain housing loans in their
communities. The backing provided by the First Nations
Market Housing Fund, in conjunction with the First Nation
guarantees, attracts lenders by offsetting the security issue
while preserving the communal nature of reserve land.

Community
Commitment
(and evidence of demand for
market- or loan-based housing)

First Nations choose how best to satisfy each principle by
demonstrating their own strengths in each of the pillars.

Increases the Capacity of First Nations
The Fund has established a Capacity Development Program
which provides support for First Nations communities that
meet or are close to meeting the Fund’s criteria for the Credit
Enhancement but have areas which could be strengthened
or improved. Funding for capacity development supports
the provision of training, advice and coaching which focuses
on improving market- or loan-based housing capacity for
qualified First Nations and members of these communities.

If a borrower were to default on an eligible loan, the
lender will seek compensation from the First Nation.
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GLOSSARY OF TERM

GLOSSARY

of Terms

Lease Inducement
The negotiation of lease agreements sometimes
includes incentives, or inducements, offered by the
landlord which encourages the party leasing the
property (lessee) to sign the lease. These incentives
may include an up-front cash payment to the lessee,
a rent-free period, or a contribution to certain lessee
costs such as leasehold improvements/office fit-up
costs.

Effective Interest Rate Method
A method for systematically moving bond discounts or
premiums from the statement of financial position to
interest income over the life of the investment.

Deferral Method
Under the deferral method of accounting for
contributions, restricted contributions related to
expenses of future periods are deferred and recognized
as revenue in the period in which the related expenses
are incurred.

Fair Value
Fair value is the amount of consideration that would
be agreed upon in an arm’s length transaction
between knowledgeable, willing parties under normal
conditions.

LIST OF

Acronyms

Contact Us

FNMHF (“the Fund”)

First Nations Market Housing Fund

First Nations Market Housing Fund

1420 Blair Towers Place, Suite 510
Ottawa, Ontario

AFOA
Aboriginal Financial Officers Association

AFN
Assembly of First Nations

K1J 9L8

Reception/Main Number
1-866-582-2808 or 613-740-1592

CMHC
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation

CP

Fax
613-740-9932

Certificate of Possession

FNFMB
First Nations Financial Management Board

FNFA
First Nations Finance Authority

General Inquiries
info@fnmhf.ca

Website
www.fnmhf.ca

HRS
Housing Resource Services

ISC
Indigenous Services Canada

LUP
Land Use Plan

OFNTSC
Ontario First Nations Technical Services Corporation

VIU
Victoria Island University
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